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PMH TOPCO LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2021

The directors present their Strategic Report for PMH Topco Limited (“the ccmpany™) and its subsidiaries
(together “the group”) for the year ended 30 November 2021,

Business review and future developments

The group’s turnover for the period was £69.6m (2020; £53.5m} and group net operating profit was £5.2m (2020:
£0.4m}, after amortisation of intangible assets of £3.0m {2020: £2.3m). At the stalement of financial position date,
the group showed net liabilities of £14.0m (2020: £12.9m). The directors are satisfied with the performance of the
group and the work done to achieve post-acquisition synergistic benefits from the acquisitions carried out in the
current and prior period.

PMH Topco Limited, through its wholly owned subsidiary Prismn Medical Healthcare Limited, acquired the entire
share capital of Repacq Investments Limited including its subsidiary Repose Furniture Limited on 18 January 2021.
The principal activity of Repose Furniture Limited is the manufacture and distribution of bespoke healthcare and
riser recliner chairs.,

During the year ended 30 November 2021, £1.3m {2020: £1.6m) of one-off non-recurring costs in relation to costs
and inefficiencies relating to the Covid-19 pandemic, re-organisation costs and costs incurred to achieve post-
acquisition synergies were incurred and are included in reported net operating profit.

Future developments

The group continues to be focused on growing the business organically through new contract wins and has
continued to be successful in winning new contracts, the full benefits of which are expected to come through in the
next financial year. Orders remained strang throughout the year with the conversion of these orders being a priority
for the group.

Opportunities to acquire companies that meet the overall group strategy will continue to be considered as the group
moves forward into the future.

The group has alse signed a new lease for an office and manufacturing facility for one of its subsidiaries, Repose
Furniture Limited, allowing the company to increase its cutput to meet current demand and further contribute to the
group’s growth targets

Key performance indicators
The group’s key performance indicatars include, but are not limited to, revenues, gross and operating profit margins,
eamings before interest, tax depreciation and amertisation (EBITDA).

2021 2020
Turnover {(£m) 69.6 53.5
Gross Margin % 37.2 33.2
EBITDA before non-recurring costs (Em} 12.6 7.8
Reconciliation of operating profit to EBITDA 2021 2020
£m £m
Net operating profit 5.2 0.4
Add back/{deduct):
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1.0 1.4
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1.6 1.7
Amortisation of intangible assets 3.0 2.0
Non-recurring business combination transaction costs 0.2 0.5
Other non-recusring costs 1.3 1.6
Share based payment charge 0.3 0.2
EBITDA before non-recurring costs 12.6 7.8

The group also uses cash generation and working capital levels in its principal trading subsidiaries.




PMH TOPCO LIMITED

STRATEGIC REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2021

Principal risks and uncertainties

The principal risks facing the group are:
¢ awithdrawal or reduction in the level of government and local authority funding in relation to social care;
+ local authorities focusing tenders more on price rather than on quality and service; and
+ a major failure in the group's manufacturing site in North Wales.

To mitigate these risks, the group is seeking to broaden its range of products, introduce lower cost variants, develop
a private pay market, and implement a rcbust business continuity plan. The group is not at any major risk to the
loss of any one customer or contract given the breadth of its customer base.

Directors’ section 172 statement

The directors are committed to maintaining high standards of business conduct and governance. Decisions taken
by the board are supported by working papers including monthly reporting, financial impact forecasts, non-financiai
analysis, and advice from professional advisers where appropriate. This information and the impact on the wider
stakeholders of the group is considered in reaching decisions which best promote the long-term success of the
group.

The group operates via subsidiaries in various locations and markets. Subsidiary directors also consider
stakeholders at a local level. The following stakeholder groups according to Section 172 (1) Companies Act 2006
were identified as the most relevant for PMH Topco Limited and its subsidiaries.

Workforce

The directors consider the interests of its employees in all major decisions and aim to ensure the workforce is
aligned to the objectives and values of the business. The group welcomes feedback and ideas from its employees
and where appropriate these are reviewed, and actions taken as a result.

Suppliers and customers
Suppliers are a critical link to the overall supply chain. Management encourage and maintain strong working

relationships with the group’s suppliers. The group works with key suppliers to review working practices, products,
financial stability, and viability with two-way engagement to improve performance.

There is regular communication with customers to discuss all matters of business and service performance with the
aim of developing relationships, promoting continuous improvement, and creating business opportunities.

Community and environment

The group takes its responsibility within the community and the wider environment seriously. The group has policies
lo manage and monitor jts impact on the environment.

On behalf of the Board

J Hart
Director




PMH TOPCO LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2021

The directors present their Directors’ Report and audited financial statements of the group for PMH Topco
Limited {“the company") and its subsidiaries (together “the group”) for the year ended 30 November 2021.

These are the first published financial statements of the group prepared in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards {"IFRS") as adopted by the United Kingdom. The financial statements were previously prepared
under Financial Reporting Standard FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic
of Ireland”. Details of the impact of the transition are given in note 39 to the financial statements.

Principal activities
The principal activity of the company is that of a holding company.

The principal activity of the group during the year was the manufacture and supply of lifting, handling, and bathing
products thal safely and efficiently allow the mobility impaired ta be moved, transferred and handled from one location
to another.

Directors
The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of signature of the financial statements were as
follows:

M A Caldeira (resigned 28 February 2022)
J G Rosa {resigned 28 February 2022)
J Hart (appointed 28 February 2022)
P Morton (appointed 28 February 2022)

Results and dividends
The results for the year are set out on page 11.

No ordinary dividends were paid. The Directors do not recommend payment of a final dividend.

Qualifying third party indemnity provisions

The group has indemnified all directors of the group against liability in respect of proceedings brought by third
parties, subject to conditions set out in the Companies Act 2006 in the year and up to the date of the approval of
these financial statements.

Financial instruments

Financial risk management

The group's activities expose it to a humber of financial risks including credit risk, cash flow risk and liquidity risk
which it manages as follows:

Liquidity risk
In order to maintain liquidity to ensure that sufficient funds are available for ongeing operations and future
developments, the group uses a mix of long-term and short-term debt finance.

Credit risk
The group’s principal financial assets are bank balances and cash, trade and other receivables, investments.

The group has no significant credit risk, with exposure spread over a large number of counterparties and
customers.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit rating agencies. The group assesses the credit ratings of these counterparties on a frequent basis
to ensure that any potential credit risk is mitigated.




PMH TOPCO LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2021

Financial instruments (continued)

Cashfiow risk

The group’s activities expase it primarily to the financia! risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rales. Interest
bearing liabilities are a mixture of fixed and floating rate, where the group mitigates the exposure through cash flow
hedging.

Disabled persons

The group is committed to cmployment policirs, which follow best practice, based on equal opportunities for all
employees, irrespective of sex, race, colour, disability or marital status. The group gives full and fair consideration to
applications for employment of disabled persons, having regard to their particular aptitudes and abilities.
Appropriate arrangements are made for the continued employment and training, career development and
promgotion of disabled persons employed by the group. If members of staff become disabled the group
continues employment, either in the same or an alternative position, with appropriate retraining being given if
necessary.

Employee involvement

The group systematically provides employees with information on matters of concern to them, consulting them or
their representatives regularly, s¢ that their views can be taken into account when making decisions that are likely
to affect their interests. Employee involvement in the group is encouraged, as achieving a common awareness
on the part of all employees of the financial and economic factors affecting the group plays a major role in
maintaining its performance. The group encourages the involvement of employee's by means of reguiar
management team briefings, publishing an employee newsletter, regular training and feedback sessions and
employee suggestion schemes.

Independent auditor

Under section 487(2) of the Companies Act 2006, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, will be deemed to have been
reappointed as auditors 28 days after these financial statements were sent to members or 28 days after the
latest date prescribed for filing the financial statements with the register, whichever is earlier.

Statement of disclosure to auditor

So far as each person who was a director at the date of approving this report is aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the auditors of the company is unaware. Additionally, the directors individually have taken
all the necessary steps that they ought to have taken as directors in order to make themselves aware of all
relevant audit information and to establish that the auditors of the company is aware of that information,

Matters covered in the strategic report
Certain matters required to be included in the Directors’ Report have been included in the Strategic Report,
namely the discussion of the future devetopments of the group.

Going concern

The directors have reviewed the trading position of the Prism Group (Prism Healthcare Topco Limited and its
subsidiaries) and its business risks, including the known and potential impacts on the business of the ecanomic
uncertainty caused by the Covid-19 global pandemic, Brexit, the war in Ukraine and cest inflation. As part of that
review the directors have prepared profit and cash flow forecasts for a period of 12 months from the date of approval
of these financial statements, including considering a severe but plausible downside case, to assess whether the
business will have access to sufficient liquidity over that period and will be in compliance with the covenants attached
to the group’s external debt.

On the basis of their review, management has concluded that the group will have access to sufficient liquidity to fund
its operations for at least one year from the approval date of these financial statements and accordingly, the going
concern basis of preparation of the financial statements is reasonable and no material uncertainty exists.




PMH TOPCO LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2021

Events after the reporting date

On 20 January 2022, the group refinanced its existing debt facilities and repaid to HSBC all amounts owing under the
Senior and Revolving Facilites Agreement. The group subsequently entered into a £90m Senior and Revolving
Facilities Agreement. The agreement provides the group access to draw down on a £25m Committed Acquisition
Facility and a £5m Revolving Working Capital Facility to meet its funding requirements.

On 28 February 2022 Limerston Capital LLP FCA, which owns the ultimate parent company PMH Topco Limited, sold
the majority of its investment in the group to Charme Capital Partners.

Streamlined energy and carbon reporting

In this section of this report;
» “DEFRA” means the Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs;
¢ “kWh" means kilowatt hours; and
s "tCO2e" means tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent

- 2021 2020
The annual quantity of emissions in tCO2e resuiting from activities for 1,139 900
which the group was responsible involving (i) the combustion of gas or (i)

the consumption of fuel for the purposes of transport

The annual guantity of emissions in tCQO2e resulting from the purchase of 499 452
electricity by the group for its own use

The annual quantity of energy consumed in kWh from activities in the UK 3,113,162 2,430,887
for which the group is responsible involving the combustion of gas and the

annual quantity of energy consumed in kWh resulting from the purchase

of electricity by the group for its own use in the UK

The groug's annual emissions: ratio of tCO2e per £million of revenue 23.911 25.3:1

The following methodologies were used to calculate the above quantities:
+ the kWh consumption figures relevant to gas and electricity were taken from invoices received by the group
and then converted to tCO2e figures using the then current conversion factors published by DEFRA,

+ the consumption figures relevant to transport were calculated using expensed mileage figures and estimates
of mileage based on historicat mileage levels where mileage records were not available, which were then
converted to tCO2e for company cars following the guidelines issued by DEFRA.

On behalf of the Board

J Hart
Director




PMH TOPCO LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2021

The directors are responsible for preparing the annual report and the financial statements in accordance with
applicabie law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the
directaors have prepared the group and company financial statements in accordance with international accounting
standards in conformity with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

Under company law, directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true
and fair view of the state of affairs of the group and the company and of the profit or loss of the group for that period.
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are required to:

+ select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

« state whether applicable international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006 have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements;

« make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

« prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unfess it is inappropriate to presume that the
group and the company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and company and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The directors are also responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain
the group’s and the company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position
of the group and the company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the requirements
of the Companies Act 20086.
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Opinion

In our epinion, PMH Topco Limited's group financial statements and company financial statements {the “financial statements™).

s give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the company's affairs as at 30 November 2021 and of the group's loss
and the group’s and company's cash flows for the year then ended,;

« have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting standards in conformity with the requirements of the
Companies Act 2006; and

« have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual Report and Financial Statements {the "Annual Report”), which
comprise’ the group and company statements of financial position as at 30 November 2021 the group income statement, the group
and company statements of changes in equity and the group and company staternents of cash flows for the year then ended; and the
notes to the financial statements, which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Basis for opinion

We eohducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) ("iSAs (UK)") and applicable law. Our
responsibilities under 1SAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section
of aur report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

We remained independent of the group in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with these requirements.

Conclusions relating to going concern

Based op the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that,
individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group's and the company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a
pericd of at ieast tweive months from when the finansial statements are authorised for issue.

in auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

However, because not all future events or conditions ean be predicted, this conelusion is not & guarantee as to the group's and the
company’s ability o continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibifities of the directars with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this
report.

Reporting on other information

The other informaticn comprises all of the information in the Annual Report other than the financial statements and our auditors' report
thereon. The directars are responsible for the other information. Qur opinion on the financlal statements does not cover the other
information and. accordingly, we do not express an audit apinion or, excep! fo the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this repart, any
form of assurance thereon,
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In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing s0, ¢onsider
whather the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or
otherwise appears to be materiaily misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are
required to perform procedures to conclude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a material
misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is @ meterial misstatement of
this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic report and Directora' report, we also considered whether the disclosures required by the UX Companies
Act 2006 have been included.

Based on our work undertaken in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 requires us also to report certain opinions and
matters as described below.

Al

In our opinion, hagsed con the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the information given in the Strategic report and Directors’
report for the year ended 30 November 2021 is consistent with the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with
applicable legal requirements.

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we
did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic repart and Directors' report.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

As explained more fully in the directors' responsibilities statement, the directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The directors are
also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group's and the company's ability to continue as
& going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters refated to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting uniess
the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the company or to cease operations, or have no realistic aiternative but to do so.

R S DL P [ L R I P A

Qur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high
tevel of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs (UK) will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists, Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individuaily or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected lo influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line with our
responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in respect of irregularities, inciuding fraud. The extent to which our
procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.

Based on our understanding of the group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations
related to heaith and safety regulations. and we considered the extent to which non-compliance might have a material effect on the
firancial statements. \We als0 considered thoss laws and regulations that have a direct impact on the financial statemerts such as UK
tax legislation and the Companies Act 2006,
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We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements {including the risk of
override of controls), and determined that the principal risks were related to posting journal entries to manipulate financial performance
and management bias through judgemants and assumptions in significant accounting estimates. Audit procedures performed by the
engagement team inciuded:

» discussions with management and those charged with governance, including consideration of known or suspected instances of
non-compliance with iaws and regulations and fraud;

» evaluation of management's controls designed to prevent and detect fraudulent financial reporting;

¢ challenging the assumptions and judgements applied by management in determining their significant accounting estimates, in
particular in relation tc provisioning;

+ identifying and testing journal entries using a risk-based targeting approach for unexpected account combinations; and

* reviewing financial statement disclosures and testing to supporting documertation, where appropriate, to assess compliance with
appficable faws and regulations.

There are inherent limitations In the audit procedures described above. We are less likety to become aware of instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to events and transactions reflected in the financial statements. Also,
the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud
may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion,

A further description of our responsibiliies for the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC's website at:
www fro.org ukfauditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

ST EEPEN I

- Ll

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter
3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2008 and for no other purpose. We do net, in giving these opinions, accept or assume respensibility
for any other purpase or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands # may come save where expressly
agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

* we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
+ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received from
branches not visited by ws; or

« certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law are not made; or
= the company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

Wa have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

T B A

Tom Yeates (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Leeds

23 December 2022
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PMH TOPCO LIMITED

GROUP INCOME STATEMENT

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2021

2020
2021 {restated™)
Notes £ £
Revenue 3 69,565,248 53,493,431
Cost of sales 4 (43,656,309)  (35,708,954)
Gross profit 25,908,937 17,784,477
Administrative expenses 4 {13,062,390) (11,242,088)
Distribution costs 4 (7.675,065) (6.984,505)
Other operating income 5 26,406 795,661
Net operating profit 5,197,888 353,545
Finance income 9 - 201
Finance costs 10 (6,957,313) (6,147,828)
Loss before taxation {1,759,425) (9,794,082)
Taxation 11 {1,229,468) 471,427
Loss for the year (2,988,893) {5,322,655)
Loss for the financial year is attributable to:
- Owners of the parent company (2,485,141) (4,460,414}
- Non-controlling interests (503,752) {862,241}
(2,988,893) (5,322,655)

There were no items of other comprehensive income in the current or priar year. Accordingly, no statement of other
comprehensive income has been prepared.

* Finance costs has been restated. See note 40 for further details.

11 -



PMH TOPCO LIMITED

GROUP AND COMPANY STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 30 NOVEMBER 2021

Assels

Non-current

Goodwill

Other intangible assets
Investments

Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Trade and other receivables

Current

Inventaries

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Current tax payable

Net current (liabilities)/assets
Non-current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Borrowings

Provisians

Deferred tax liabilities

Total liabilities

Net (liabilities)/assets

Equity
issued share capital

(Accumulated losses)/retained earnings
Equity attributable to owners of the

parent

Non-controlling interest
Total equity

Notes

12
12
14
13
13
18

17
18
25

19

20
20
23
24

29
30

Group Company

30 1 30 1

30 November December 30 November December
November 2020 2019 November 2020 2019
2021 {restated®) (restated*) 2021 (restated*} (restated*)

£ £ £ £ £ £
49,652,691 41,311,112 35,377,959 - - -
19,043,197 15,975,248 11,741,594 - - -

- - - 846,705 846,705 846,705

2,449111 2,605,051 2,602,540 - - -
4,899,890 5,783,809 2,707,147 - - -

- - - 57792195 44,830,445 35,562,700

75,944, 889 ©5,675,220 52,429,240 58,638,900 45,677,150 36,409,405
9,493,177 6,907,384 5,024,348 - - -
15,199,774 11,565,777 10,605,712 1,014,000 1,343,550 1,343,550
4,323,837 2,723,491 914,780 3,357 8,309 67
29,016,788 21,196,652 16,544,840 1,017,357 1,352,859 1,343,617
104,961,677 86,871,872 68,974,080 59,656,257 47,030,009 37,753,022
(31,750,903) {19,458,806) (12,018,339) (14,642,778) (5.653,213) (35,000)
(866,952) (488,382) (393,261) (134,900) (329,550) (329,550)
(3,601,074) 1,249,364 4,132,240 (13,760,321) (4,629,904) 979,067
(18,895,608) {11,343,470) (4,977,606) (9,773.645) (2,851,089) (2,356,594)
(63,255,392) (65,265,420) (58,239,940) (32,979,716) (35.981,519) (33,305,861)
{200,000) (310,842) (318,561) - - -
(3,976,810} (2,904,506) (2,207,833) - - -
(118,945,672) (99,771,526} (78,156,540) (57,531,039) (44,815,371} (36,027,005)
{13,983,995) (12,899,654) (9,182,460) 2,125,218 2,214,638 1,726,017
834,205 834,205 834,205 834,205 834,205 834,205
(11.082,393) (9.075,662) {4,815,176) 1,291,013 1,380,433 891,812
(10,248,188) (8,241,457) (3,980,971) 2,125,218 2,214,638 1,726,017
(3,735,807) (4,658,197) (5,201,489) - - -
{13,983,995) {12,899,654) {9,182,460) 2,125,218 2,214,638 1,726,017

* (Accumulated losses)/retained earnings, certain liabilities, property, plant and equipment and other intangible assets
have been restated. See note 40 for further details.

12 -



PMH TOPCO LIMITED

GROUP AND COMPANY STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)
AS AT 30 NOVEMBER 2021

The notes on pages 18 to 58 form an integral part of these Financial Statements.

As permitted by s408 of the Companies Act 2006, PMH Topco Limited has not presented its own income statement.
The loss for the financial year within the financial statements of the holding company was £89,420 (2020 restated

profit: £488,621)

The financial statements of PMH Topcog, Lim ez(re istered number 11710444) on pages 11 to 58 were approved by
the Board and authorised for issue on 2% ¢ (L {2027

On behalf of the Board

J Hart
Director

-13 -



PMH TOPCO LIMITED

GROUP STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2021

Notes

Ralance at 1 December 2019 (as
previously reported)

Impact of prior year restatement 40
Balance at 1 December 2019 (restated*)

Loss and total comprehensive expense for
the year (as previously reported)

Impact of prior year restatement 40

Loss and total comprehensive expense for
the year (restated*)

Acquisition of subsidiary
Credit to equity for equity setfled share-
based payments 7

Batance at 30 November 2020 (restated*)

Loss and total comprehensive expense for
the year

Acquisition of subsidiary 31
Credit to equity for equity settled share-

based payments 7
Deferred tax credit in relation to share-

hased payments 24

Balance at 30 November 2021

Equity

Equity attributable

Issued attributable to non-

share Accumulated to owners of controlling
capital losses  the parent interest Total equity
£ £ £ £ £
834,205 (b650,131) (4,815,926) (5,201,489) {10,017,415)
- 834,955 834,855 - 834,955
834,205 (4,815176) (3,980,971) {5,201,489) (9,182,460)
- (4,560,278) (4,560,278} (866,580) (5,426,858)
- 99,864 95,864 4,339 104,203
- (4,460,414) (4,460,414} (862,241) (5,322 ,655)
- - - 1,405,533 1,405,533
- 199,928 199,928 - 199,928
834,205 (9.075,662) (8,241,457) {4,658,197) (12,899,655
- (2,485,141) (2,485,141} (503,752) (2,988,893)
- - - 1,426,142 1,426,142
- 252 235 252,235 - 252,235
- 226,175 226,175 - 226,175
834,205 (11,082,393) (10,248,188) (3,735,807) (13,983,995)

* Equity brought forward and lass and total comprehensive expense has been restated. See note 40 for further details.
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PMH TOPCO LIMITED

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2021

Balance at 1 December 2019 (as previously reported)
Impact of prior year restatement
Balance at 1 December 2019 (restated®)

Year ended 30 November 2020:

Profit for the year (as previously reported)
impact of prior year restatement

Profit for the year (restated*)

Balance at 30 November 2020 (as previously reported)
Impact of pricr year restatement

Balance at 30 November 2020 (restated*)

Year ended 30 November 2021:
Loss far the year

Balance at 30 November 2021

Notes

40

40

40

issued
share  Retained

capital earnings Total equity
£ £ £
834,205 56,857 891,062
- 834,955 834,955
834,205 891,812 1,726,017
- 410,586 410,586
- 78,035 78,035
- 488,621 488,621
834,205 467,443 1,301,648
- 912,990 912,990
834,205 1,380,433 2,214,638
- {89,420} (89,420)
834,205 1,291,013 2,125,218

* Equity brought forward and profit for the year has been restated. See note 40 for further details.
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PMH TOPCO LIMITED

GROUP STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2021

2020
2021 (restated®)
Notes £ £
Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from operations 32 10,675,627 6,329,459
Interest paid (1,850,764) (1,883,321}
Income taxes paid (479,817) (125,310)
Net cash generated from operating activities 8,345,046 4,320,828

Investing activities
Purchase of intangible assets (1,186,642) {644,719)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (466,555) (873,538)
Purchase of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired 31 {10,697 455} {6,110,004)
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 16,940 24,168
Interest received - 200
Net cash used in investing activities (12,333,712) (7,603,893)

Financing activities
Proceeds from bank loans 10,348,638 12,400,000
Repayment of bank loans (3,090,000) (4,090,244)
Repayment of preference shares - (62,707)
Interest paid on preference shares - (7.858)
Repayment of joan notes - (1,355,378}
Capital element of lease liability payments (1,669,626) (1,660,184)
L.oan fees paid - (131.853)
Net cash generated from financing activities 5,589,012 5,091,776
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 1,600,346 1,808,711
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,723,491 014,780
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 4,323,837 2,723,491

* Purchase of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment has been restated. See note 40 for further details.
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PMH TOPCO LIMITED

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2021

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash used in operations

Income taxes paid

Net cash used in operating activities

Financing activities
Proceeds from bank loans
Net cash generated from financing activities

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Notes

34

2021 2020

£ £
(8,025,040) (5.628,971)
(329,550) -
(8,354,590) (5.628,971)
8,348,638 5,638,213
8,348,638 5,638,213
(5,952) 9,242
9,309 67
3,357 9,309
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PMH TOPCO LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2021

11

1.2

Accounting policies

Company information

PMH Topco Limited (“the company”} is a private company limited by shares, domiciled, and incorporated in
the United Kingdom and registered in England and Wales. The registered office is Warwick House, 25-27
Buckingham Palace Road, London, SW1W 0PP.

The group consists of PMH Topco Limited and all of its subsidiaries. The group manufactures and supplies
lifting, handling, and bathing products that safely and efficiently allow the mobility impaired to be moved,
transferred, and handled from one person to another. The group has manufacturing sites in the United Kingdom
and sells primarily within the UK.

Accounting convention

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
as adopted by the United Kingdom (“IFRS") and International financial Reporting Committee ("IFRC")
Interpretations that are applicable to the consdlidated financial statements for the year ending 30 November
2021, and with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 appiicable to companies reporting under IFRS.

These accounting policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

These consolidated financial statements are the first published consclidated financial statements of PMH Topco
Limited prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporling Standards as adopted by the United
Kingdom (“IFRS"). The consolidated financial statements of PMH Topco Limited were previously prepared under
Financial Reporting Standard FRS 102 *The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of
Ireland”.

Some of the IFRS recognition, measurement, presentation and disclosure requirements and accounting paolicy
choices differ from UK GAAP. Consequently, the directors have amended certain accounting policies to compty
with IFRS. The directors have also taken advantage of certain exemptions from the requirements of IFRS
permitted by IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards’. The exemptions taken
are set out in note 39.

Comparative figures have been restated to reflect the adjustments made, except to the extent that the Directors
have taken advantage of exemptions to retrospective application of IFRS permitted by IFRS 1 ‘First-time
Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards’.

Reconciliations and descriptions of the effect of the transition to IFRS on the consolidated and company equity
and the consolidated and company total comprehensive income previously reported under UK GAAP are given
in note 39.

These financial statements are prepared in sterling which is the functional currency of the group and the
company. Monetary amounts in these financial statements are rounded to the nearest £.

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention.
The principal accounting policies adopted are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate those of PMH Topco Limited and all of its subsidiasies
{ie. entities that the group controls through its power to govern the financial and operating policies so as to
obtain econcmic benefits), Subsidiaries acquired during the year are consolidated using the purchase method.
Their results are incorporated from the date that control passes.

-18-



PMH TOPCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2021

1.2

1.3

1.4

Accounting policies (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

In the parent company financial statements, the cost of a business combination is the fair value at the
acquisition date of the assets given, equity instruments issued, and liabilities incurred or assumed, plus costs
directly attributable to the business combination. In the group financial statements, the excess of the cost of a
business combination over the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
acquired is recognised as goodwill. The cost of the combination includes the estimated amount of contingent
consideration that is probable and can be measured reliably and is adjusted for changes in contingent
consideration after the acquisition date.

Provisional fair values recognised for business combinations in previous periods are adjusted retrospectively
for final fair values determined in the 12 months following the acguisition date. Investments in subsidiaries, joint
ventures and associates are accounted for at cost less impairment.

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the value of assels {other than goodwill) and labilities
recognised in a business combination accounted for using the purchase method and the amounts that can
be deducted or assessed for tax, considering the manner in which the carrying amount of the asset or
liability is expected to be recovered or settled. The deferred tax recognised is adjusted against gocdwill or
negative goodwill.

All financial statements are made up to 30 November 2021. Where necessary, adjustments are made to
the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with those used by
other members of the group.

All intra-group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group companies are
eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred.

Subsidiary acquisitions have been included in the group financial statements using the purchase methed of
accounting. Accordingly, the group profit and loss account and statement of cash flows include the results
and cash flows of subsidiaries for the period from the date of their acquisitions. The purchase consideration
has been allocated to the assets and {iabilities ¢on the basis of fair value at the date of acquisition.

Going concern

The directors have reviewed the trading position of the Prism Group (PMH Topco Limited and its subsidiaries)
and its business risks, including the known and potential impacts on the business of the economic uncertainty
caused by the Covid-19 global pandemic, Brexit, the war in Ukraine and cost inflation. As part of that review the
directors have prepared profit and cash flow forecasts for a period of 12 months from the date of approval of
these financial statements, including considering a severe out plausible downside case, to assess whether
the business will have access to sufficient liquidity over that period and will be in compliance with the covenants
attached to the group's external debt,

After the statement of financial position date, the group refinanced its debt facilities and entered into a new
Senior and Revolving Facilities Agreement on 20™ January 2022. The agreement provides the group access to
draw down on a £25m Committed Acquisition Facility and a £6m Revolving Working Capital Facility to meet its
funding requirements. The Committed Acquisition and Revolving Working Capital facilities are available until
2029 and 2028 respectively,

On the basis of their review, management has concluded that the group will have access to sufficient
liquidity to fund its operations for at least one year from the approval dale of these financial statements and
accordingly, the going concem basis of preparation of the financial statements is reasonable and no
material uncertainty exists.

New standards and interpretations not yet adopted

Certain new accounting standards and interpretations have been published and are not mandatory for the 30
November 2021 reporting period and have not been early adopted by the group. These standards are not
expected to have a material impact on the entity in the current or future reporting periods.
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PMH TOPCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2021

1.5

Accounting policies (continued)

Revenue

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the group is expected to be entitled
in exchange for transferring goods or services to a customer. For each contract with a customer, the group:

identifies the contract with a customer;
identifies the performance obligations in the contract;
determines the transaction price which takes into account estimates of variable consideration and the
time value of meney;

¢ allocates the transaction price to the separate performance obligations on the basis of the relative
stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service to be delivered; and

s recognises revenue when or as each performance obligation is satisfied in a manner that depicts the
transfer to the customer of the goods or services promised.

At contract inception, an assessment is completed to identify the performance obligations in each contract.
Performance obligations in a contract are either goods or services that are distinct, or part of a series of distinct
goods and services that are substantially the same and have the same pattern or fransfer to the customer.

The group has elected to apply practical expedients to:

« not adjust the promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant financing component if
the group expects, at contract inception, that the period between when the entity transfers a promised
good or service to a customer and when the customer pays for that good or service will be one year or
less; and

* recognise the incremental costs of obtaining a contract as an expense when incurred if the amortisation
period of the asset recognised would otherwise have been one year or less.

The following is a description of the principal activities from which the group generates revenue:

Supply of equipment

Revenue from supply of equipment is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the
goods have passed to the buyer (on dispatch of the goods at a paint in time}, the amaunt of revenue can be
measured reliably, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the entity
and the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably. The transaction
price is allocated to the equipment supplied to the customer based on set price lists.

Instaliation of equipment

Revenue from the installation of equipment is not bundled with the supply of equipment as it represents a
separate perfarmance obligation. Revenue is recognised on the day of installation at a point in time. In the
normal course of events, an installation is completed the same day it is started. The transaction price is allocated
based on set price lists which will be specified in the contracl with the customer.

Service and repair of equipment

The revenue from service and repair of equipment is recognised when the performance obligation is satisfied at
a point in time, which is on the day that the service and repair of the equipment takes place. The group also
enters into a number of contracts for comprehensive servicing and maintenance which are delivered over a
pericd of time and paid for via a flat fee. Revenue for these contracts is recognised on a straight-line basis over
the period of the agreement, as management concluded this is the most faithful approximation to measure the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance obligation given the indeterminate nature of the
number of maintenance and servicing acts over the specified period. The transaction price is allocated based
on set price lists which will be specified in the contract with the customer.
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PMH TOPCO LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2021

1.5

1.6

1.7

1.8

1.9

Accounting policies (continued)

Revenue (continued)

Extended warranties

Products sold by the group come with an existing inclusive warranty period. The existing warranty provides
assurance that the product complies with agreed-upon specifications, and as such is accounted for as a
provision in accordance with IAS 37. The group also provides extended warranties which are priced and offered
at an additional cost to the goods supplied. The extended warranties are considered to be distinct and treated
as a separate performance obligation under IFRS 15 with revenue being recognised on a straight-line basis over
the period of the extended warranty. The transaction price is allocated based on set price lists which will be
specified in the contract with the customer.

Research and development expenditure

Research expenditure is written off against profits in the year in which it is incurred. Identifiable development
expenditure is capitalised to the extent that the technical, commercial, and financial feasibility can be
demonstrated.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on consolidation is recorded as an intangible asset and is the surplus of the fair value of the
consideration payable over the group’s interest in the fair value of identifiable net assets acquired. Goodwill is
reviewed annualty for impairment. For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the
company’s cash-generating units. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit
and then to other assets of the unit pro rata based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment identified as a result of the review is charged to the income statement. On disposal of a subsidiary,
the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the profit or foss on disposal.

Intangible assets other than goodwill

Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are recognised at cost and are subsequently
measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets
acquired on business combinations are recognised separately from goodwill at the acquisition date where it is
probable that the expected future economic benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity
and the fair value of the asset can be measured reliably.

Amortisation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets {ess their residual values over
their useful lives on the following bases:

Development cosis 3 years
Brand 10 years
Customer relationships 10 years
Scoftware costs J years

Property, plant and equipment
Tangible fixed assets are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost or valuation, net of
depreciation and any impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets less their residual values over
their useful lives on the following bases:

Leasehold land and buildings 20% on cost
Plant and equipment 20% on cost
Fixtures and fittings 33% on cost
Motor vehicles 33% on cost

The gain or loss arising on the disposal of an asset is determined as the difference between the sale
proceeds and the carrying value of the asset and is recognised in the income statement.
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PMH TOPCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2021

1.11

1.12

Accounting policies (continued)

Right-of-use assets

A right-of-use asset is recognised at commencement of the lease and initially measured at the amount of the
lease liability, plus any incremental costs of obtaining the lease and any lease payments made at or before the
leased asset is available for use by the group.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. The depreciation methods applied are as follows:

Right-of use assets Over the lease term

The right-of-use asset is subject to impairment and adjusted for any re-measurement of the lease liahility and
lease modifications.

Fixed asset investments

In the parent company financial statements, investments in subsidiaries, associates and jointly controlled
entities are initially measured at cost and subsequently measured at cost less any accumulated impairment
losses.

A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the group. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating
paolicies of the entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

Impairment of intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

At each reporting period end date, the group reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in
order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the
recoverable amount of an individual asset, the company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recaverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for
which the estimates of future cash flows have nct been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in the income statement, unless the relevant asset is carried at a
revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease.

Recognised impairment losses are reversed if, and only if, the reasons for the impairment loss have
ceased to apply. Where an impairment loss subseguently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or
cash-generating unit} is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in the income statement, unless the relevant asset is carried
at arevalued amourd, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase.
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PMH TOPCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2021

1

1.13

Accounting policies (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell, Cost
comprises direct malerials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and those overheads that have been
incurred in bringing the stocks to their present location and condition.

Al each reporting date, an assessment is made for impairment. Any excess of the carrying amount of
stocks over its estimated selling price less costs to complete and sell is recognised as an impairment loss
in the income statement. Reversals of impairment losses are also recognised in the income statement.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents are basic financial assets and include cash in hand, deposits held at call with
banks, other short-term liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank
overdrafts. Bank overdrafis are shown within borrowings in current liabilities.

Financial instruments
Financial instruments are recognised in the group's statement of financial position when the group becomes

party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and liabilities are offset, and the net amounts presented in the financial statements when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a
net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneocusly.

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised in the group’s statement of financial position when the group becomes party
to the contractual provisicns of the instrument. Financial assets are classified into specified categories,
depending on the nature and purpose of the financial assets.

At initial recognition, financial assets classified as fair value through profit and loss are measured at fair value
and any transaction costs are recognised in the income statement. Financial assets not ¢lassified as fair value
through profit and loss are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs.

Financial assets held at amortised cost

Financial instruments are classified as financial assets measured at amortised cost where the objective is to hold
these assets in order to collect contractuai cash flows, and the contractual cash flows are solely payments of
principal and interest. They arise principally from the provision of goods and services to customers {e.g. trade
receivables). They are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs directly attributable to their
acquisition or issue and are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method, less
provision for impairment where necessary.

impairment of financial assets

An impairment loss is recognised for the expected credit losses on financial assets where there is an increased
probability that the counterparty will be unabie to settle an instrument’s contractual castiflows on contractual due
dates, a reduction in the amounts expected to be recovered, or both,

The probability of default and expected amounts recoverable are assessed using reasonable, and supportable
past and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or effort. The expected credit loss on
trade receivabies is a probabiiity weighted amount determined from grouping the receivabies based on days
overdue and making assumptions based on historic information to allocate an overall expected credit loss rate
for each group.
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PMH TOPCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2021

1.16

Accounting policies {continued)

Financial instruments {continued}
Derecognition of financial assets
Financial assets are derecognised only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire
or are settled, or when the group transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to another entity, or if some significant risks and rewards of ownership are retained but control
of the asset has transferred to another party that is able to sell the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third

party.

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are recognised when the group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the
instruments.

Financial liabilities, including borrowings, trade payables and other payables, are initially measured at fair
value net of transaction costs directly attributable to the issuance of the financial liability. They are
subseguently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. For the purposes of each
financial liability, interest expense includes initial transacticn costs and any premium payable on redemption,
as well as any interest or coupon payable while the liability is outstanding.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
Financial liabilities are derecognised when, and only when, the group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled,
or they expire.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the group are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
Dividends payable on equity instruments are recognised as liabilities once they are no longer at the discreticn
of the group.

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from net profit as reported
in the profit and loss account because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in
other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The group's liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the reporting
date.

Deferred fax

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all timing differences and deferred tax assets are recognised
io the extent that it is probable that they will be recovered against the reversal of deferred tax liabilities or
other future taxable profits. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the timing difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
tax profit nor the accounting profit.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting end date and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
when the liability is settled, or the asset is realised. Deferred lax is charged or credited in the profit and loss
account, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to equity, in which case the deferred
tax is also dealt with in equity. Deferred tax asseis and liabiities are offset if, and only if, there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate
to taxes levied by the same tax authority.
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PMH TOPCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2021

1.17

1.18

1.19

1.20

Accounting policies (continued)

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the group has a legal or constructive present obligation as a result of a
past event, it is probable that the group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable estimate can
be made of the amount of the obligation,

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to setfle the
present obfigation at the reporting end date, faking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the
obligation. Where the effect of the time value of money is material, the amount expected to be required to
settle the obligation is recognised at present value. When a provision is measured at present value, the
unwinding of the discount is recognised as a finance cost in profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Employee benefits
The costs of shorf-term employee benefits are recognised as a liability and an expense, unless those costs
are required to be recognised as part of the cost of inventories or property, plant and equipment.

The cost of any unused holiday entittement is recognised in the period in which the employee's hcliday
entitiement accrues.

Termination benefits are recognised immediately as an expense when the company is demanstrably committed
to terminate the emplocyment of an employee or to provide termination benefits.

Retirement benefits
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged as an expense as they fall due.

Leases

On commencement of a contract which gives the group the right to use an asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration, the group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability uniess the lease gualifies as a
‘'short-term’ lease (term is twelve months or less with no option to purchase the lease asset) or a ‘low-value’
lease (where the underlying asset is £4.000 or less when new).

Initial measurement of the lease liability

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments during the lease term,
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, or the incremental borrowing rate if the interest rate
implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined.

The lease is the non-cancellable period of the lease plus extension periods that the group is reasonably certain
to exercise and termination periods that the group is reasonably certain not to exercise.

Lease payments include fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
dependent on an ingex or a rate (such as those linked to LIBOR) and any residual value guarantees. Variable
lease payments are initially measured using the index or rate when the leased asset is available for use.
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2021

1.20

1.21

1.22

1.23

Accounting policies (continued)

Leases {continued)

Subsequent measurement of the lease liability

The lease liability is subsequently increased for a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance
of the lease liability and reduced for lease payments.

Interest on the lease liability is recognised in the income statement. Variable lease payments not included in
the measurement of the lease liability as they are nat dependent on an index or rate, are recognised in the
income statement in the period in which the event or cendition that triggers those payments occurs.

When the lease liability is re-measured due to changes arising from the original terms and conditions of the
lease, the corresponding adjustment is reflected in the right-of-use asset, or income statement if the right-of-
use asset is already reduced to nil.

A lease modification, that was not part of the original terms and conditions of the lease, is accounted for as a
separate lease or an adjustment to the lease liability depending on the nature of the change.

Government grants
Government grants are recognised at the fair value of the asset received or receivable when there is
reasonable assurance that the grant conditions will be met, and the grants will be received.

A grant that specifies performance conditions is recognised in income when the performance conditions are
met. Where a grant does not specify performance conditions it is recognised in income when the proceeds
are received or receivable. A grant received before the recognition criteria is salisfied is recognised as a
liability.

Foreign exchange

Transactions in currencies other than functional cumency are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Al each reporting end date, monetary assets and liakilities that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the reporting end date. Gains and losses
arising on translation in the period are recognised in the income statement.

Finance costs
Finance costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred. interest paid is included under operating
activities in the statement of cash flows.

Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

in the application of the group's accounting policies, the directars are required to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amount of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that
are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates, judgements, and underiying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions {o
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised, if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.
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2 Judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty {continued)

The estimates and judgements that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below.

(i) Useful economic lives of tangible assets

The annual depreciation charge for property, plant and equipment is sensitive to changes in the estimated
useful rennomic lived and residual values of the assets. The useful economic lives and residual values
are re- assessed annually. They are amended where necessary to reflect current estimates, based
on technological advancement, future investments, economic utilisation and the physical condition of
the assets. See note 13 for the carrying amount of the property, plant and equipment and note 1 for the
useful ecanomic lives for each class of assets.

(i) Inventory provisioning

The group manufactures and repairs moving and handliing products and is subject to changes in
consumer demand and new products. As a result, it is necessary to consider the recoverability of the cost
of inventory and the associated provisioning required. When calculating the inventory provision, management
considers the nature and condition of the inventory as well as applying assumptions around anticipated
saleability of finished goods and future usage of raw materials. See note 17 for the net carrying amount of the
inventary and associated provision.

(iii} Loss affowance on trade receivables

The allowance for expected credit losses assessment requires a degree of estimation and judgement. It is based
on the lifetime expected credit loss, grouped based on days overdue, and makes assumptions to allocate an
overall expected credit loss rate for each group. See note 18 for the carrying amount of trade receivables and
the allowance for expected credit losses.

{iv) Impairment of goodwill

The group tests annually, or maore frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate impairment, whether
goodwill has suffered any impairment in accordance with the accounting policy stated in note 12. The recoverable
amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations
require the use of assumptions, including estimated discount rates based on the current cost of capital and
growth rates of the estimated future cash flows.

(v) Identification and valuation of intangible assets on business combinations

Identified intangible assets acquired in business combinations are recognised separately from goodwill. An
intangible asset is identified if it arises from contractual or legal rights, or it is separable. Determining the fair
value of intangible assets acquired requires estimates of future cash flows related to the identified intangibles
and a suitable discount rate to calculate the present value. Note 31 provides information on the acquisitions
made during the year.

(vi) Measurement of iease liabilities — discount rate

The directors have assessed that 5.29% was a reasonable discount rate to reflect the group's incremental cost
of borrowing for all leases at the date of transition to IFRS 16. This rate has been estimated based on a
consideration of the rates on existing bank and other borrowings the group is engaged in. Note 22 provides
information on the value of lease liabilities at the date of transition.
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3

Revenue

Revenue is generated from the sale of goods and provision of services. Revenue recognised in the incorne

statement is analysed as follows:

Group revenue analysed by class of business

2021 2020
£ £
Sale of equipment 53,023,309 38,563,672
Installation 4,622,258 4,470,225
Service and repair 11,247 .588 9,922 682
Warranties 468,111 415,196
Training 203,980 121,656
69,565,246 53,493,431

Group revenue analysed by geographical market
2021 2020
£ £
UK and Ireland 65,649,476 50,599,481
Rest of the world 3,915,770 2,893,950
69,565,246 53,493,431

Group revenue analysed by timing of recognition
2021 2020
£ £
Goods and services transferred at a point in time 69,097,135 53,078,235
Goods and services transferred over time 468,111 415,196
69,565,246 53,493,431

Ne single customer accounted for more than 10% of revenue recognised by the group in the period (2020 —

same).

Analysis of expenses by nature

2020

2021 (restated™)

£ £

Auditers' remuneration (note ) 247,000 170,000
Employee remuneration (note 7) 22,822,862 18,066,591
Amortisation of intangible assets (note 12) 2,999,774 2,298,477
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (note 13) 957,016 1,210,648
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (hote 13) 1,642,390 1,683,871
(Profit)floss on disposal of property, plant and equipment (6,933) 18,277
Exchange differences (62,185) (43,122)
Operating lease charges in relation to short-term and low-value leases 336,868 211,554
Other operating expenses 35,456,972 30,319,251
Total cost of sales, administrative expenses, and distribution expenses 64,393,764 53,935,547

* Amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of property, plant and equipment has been restated. See

note 40 for further details.
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5  Other operating income

2021 2020
£ £
Government grants 26,406 795,661

The government grants received relate to the furlough job retention scheme. The Coronavirus Job Retention
Scheme (CJRS) was implemented by the VK government, and the scheme provides that those employees
designated as being ‘furloughed workers’ are eligible to have 80 per cent of their wage costs paid up to a
maximum of £2,500 per month. Due to the nature of the scheme, there are no unfulfiled conditicns or

contingencies.
6 Auditors’ remuneration

Fees payable to the group's auditors and associates:

2021 2020
£ £

For audit services
Audit of the financial statements of the group and company 82,000 30,000
Audit of the financial statements of the company’s subsidiaries 160,000 140,000
242,000 170,000

7 Employees

The average monthly number of persons {including directors) employed by the group and company during

the year was:

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
Number Number Number Number
Management 33 22 2 2
Production 413 374 - -
Sales & administration 225 225 - -
671 621 2 2

Their aggregate remuneration comprised:

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£ £ £ £
Wages and salaries 20,113,448 16,245,637 - -
Social security costs 1,872,500 1,508,803 - -
Other pension costs 828,363 454,923 - -
Share-based payment expense 252,235 199,928 - -
23,066,546 18.410,291 - -
Amounts capitalised {243,684) {343,700) - -
Staff costs charged to income statement 22,822,862 18,066,591 - -
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7

Employees (continued)

Share-based payment expense relates to certain employees who are directors of subsidiary entities and are
significant to the operations of the group. These employees have been allocated C and D ordinary equity shares
in exchange for employee services. The group is unable to directly measure the fair value of the services provided
and have therefore used a discounted cost of equity valuation model to determine the grant date fair value of
these shares for accounting purposes. The fair value is recognised as an expense and a carresponding entry to
retained earnings over the expected vesting period ending 30 November 2022.

At the statement of financial position date, there were 145,055 shares in issue held by employees, with a weighted
average exercise price of £1.00 per share, and a weighted average fair value of £11.17 per shara. No options
were exercised (2020: nil), were cancelled (2020: nil) or l[apsed {2020: nil) during the year.

The fair value of shares issued during the year was calculated using the discounted cost of equity valuation model
as £13.70 per share. The following inputs were used in the model:

Grant date 23/12/2020 Time until exercise 1.94 years
Vesting date 30/11/2022 Discount rate 12.5%
Share price £14.70 Discount for marketability 50.0%
Exercise price £1.00

Directors’ remuneration

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£ £ £ £
Remuneration for qualifying services 887,909 §23,454 - -
Group pension contributions to defined
contribution scheme 43,481 39,286 - -
931,390 862,740 - -

During the year the directors of PMH Topco Limited received £nil (2020: £nil} remuneration and no directors had
any retirement benefits accruing.

Directors of group subsidiaries received aggregate remuneration of £931,390 (2020: £862,740). During the year
retirement benefits were accruing to 6 (2020: 5) directors in respect of defined contribution pension schemes.

The highest paid director received remuneration of £219,126 (2020: £202,404). The value of company
contributions paid to a defined contribution pension scheme in respect of the highest paid director amounted
to £10,000 (2020: £10,000).
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9 Finance income

2021 2020
£ £
Interest income
Other interest income - 201
- 201
10 Finance costs
2020
2021 (restated™)
£ £
Interest on financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Interest on bank overdrafts and loans 2,088,677 1,732,602
interest on convertible loan notes 1,783,532 1,606,545
Amortisation of debt issue costs 343,729 320,026
Preference shares interest 2,365,884 2,148,633
Other interest on financial liabilities 60,921 48,299
6,643,743 5,856,105
Other finance costs
Interest payable on lease liabilities 313,570 291,723
Total finance costs 6,957,313 6,147,828

Interest on loan notes is accumulated and rolled up into the outstanding loan amounts. Refer to note 24 for

more details on the group’s outstanding loans and borrowings.

* Interest on convertible loan notes and preference shares has been restated. See note 40 for further details,
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11 Taxation

2020
2021 (restated™)
£ £
Current tax

UK corporation tax on |oss for the current year 849,543 (23,886)
Adjustments in respect of prior years 8,851 {2,199)

Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of timing differences (654,437} (445,342)
Adjustments in respect of prior pericds (145,227) -
Effect of tax rate change 1,170,738 -
Total tax charge/(credit) 1,229,468 _(471,427)

The actual charge/{credit) for the year can be reconciled to the expected credit for the year based on the
profit or loss and the standard rate of tax as follows:

2020
2021 (restated®)
£ £
Loss befare taxation (1,759,425) (5.794,082)
Expected tax credit based on the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK
of 19% (2020: 19%) (334,291) (1,100,876)
Expenses that are not deductible in determining taxable profit 1,706,715 (644,984)
Income not taxable for tax purposes (400,743) -
Unutilised tax losses carried forward - 346,600
Adjustments in respect of prior peniods {current tax) 8,851 (2,199)
Adjustments in respect of prior periods (deferred tax) (145,227) -
Research and development tax credit - (82,869)
Deferred tax asset not previcusly provided (803,822) (143,111)
Remeasurement of deferred tax for changes in tax rates 1,023,921 -
Fixed asset differences 174,064 -
Other differences - 28,237
Effect of intangible assets arising on consoclidation, and other consolidation
adjustments - 1,000,962
Preference share dividends - 385,568
Provision regarding movement in fair value adjustments - (258,755}
Taxation charge/{credit) in the financial statements 1,229,468 (471,427}

* UK corporation tax on loss for the current year and other differences in the reconciliation of the tax credit has
been restated. See note 40 for further details.

The March 2021 Budget announced an increase in the UK standard rate of corporation tax to 25% from 1 April
2023. The legislation received Royal Assent on 10 June 2021. Deferred taxes at the balance sheet date have
been measured using these enacted tax rates and reflected in these financial statements.

On 23 September 2022, it was announced that the corporation tax rate change from 18% ta 25% with effect from
1 April 2023 was to be cancelled. This was not substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and therefore
the impact of this change is not reflected in the measurement of deferred tax.
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12 Intangible assets

Development

costs Customer Software Total

Group Goodwill {restated™) Brands  relationships costs (restated*)

£ £ £ £ £ £
Cost
At 1 December 2019 35,377,959 1,767,936 11,508,547 - - 48,654,442
Additions - 640,470 4,249 - - 644,719
Business combinations 5,933,153 32,915 3722512 2,131,985 - 11,820,565
At 30 November 2020 41,311,112 2,441,321 15,235,308 2,131,985 - 61,119,726
Additions - 649,020 - - 537,622 1,186,642
Business combinations 8,241,579 - 2441072 2,440,009 - 13,122,660
At 30 November 2021 49,552,691 3,090,341 17,676,380 4,571,994 537,622 75,429,028
Accumulated amortisation
At 1 December 2019 - 442 882 1,092,007 - - 1,534,889
Charge for the year - 579,939 1,623,106 185,432 - 2,298,477
At 30 November 2020 - 1,022,821 2,615,113 195,432 - 3,833,366
Charge for the year - 744 520 1,726,954 416,533 111,767 2,899,774
At 30 November 2021 - 1,767,341 4,342,067 611,965 111,767 6,833,140
Carrying amount
At 30 November 2021 49,552,691 1,323,000 13,334,313 3,960,029 425,855 68,595,888
At 30 November 2020 41,311,112 1,418,500 12,620,195 1,936,553 - 57,286,360
At 1 December 2019 35,377,959 1,325,054 10,416,540 - - 47,119,553

The company had no intangible assets at 30 November 2021, 30 November 2020 or 1 December 2019.

* Development costs and accumulated amortisation brought forward, additions and amortisation charge has been
restated. See note 40 for further details.
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12

Intangible assets (continued)

The brands and customer relationships have arisen upon the acquisition of Prism Medical Healthcare Limited and
its subsidiaries, Assured Healthcare (Scattand) Limited, Care-Ability Haoldings Limited and its wholly owned
subsidiary, Care-Ability Healthcare Limited, Kala Holdings Limited, tegether with its subsidiaries and Repacq
Investments Limited and its whoily owned subsidiary, Repose Furniture Limited.

At the statement of financial position date, the weighted average amortisation period remaining for brands was 7
years and 6 months and for customer relationships was 8 years and 10 months.

Amortisation charged is included within administrative expenses in the income statement.

Goodwill arose on the past acquisition of subsidiaries of the group and represents the excess of the cansideration
over the fair value of the net assets acquired.

Goodwill has been allocated between multiple cash generating units as follows:

£ Discount rate used
Prism Medical Healthcare and its subsidiaries 32,455,238 18.92%
Assured Healthcare (Scotland) Limited 991,989 18.92%
Care-Ability Heaithcare Limited 2,935,237 18.92%
Harvest Healthcare Limited 5,686,945 18.92%
Repose Furniture Limited 7,483,282 18.92%

The goodwill was tested for impairment at 30 November 2021 by comparing the carrying value of each of the cash
generating units with the recoverable amount. The recoverable amount of each cash generating unit was
determined using a value in use methodology based on discounted cash flow projections. The key assumptions
used in the value in use calculations were as follows:

= Operating cash flows are based on internal forecast of cash generating unit EBITDA plus capital
expenditure and working capital movements;

* A 5-year forecast pericd; and

» The pre-tax discount rate of 18.92% was calculated as the compound annual growth rate required to
generate a 100% equity return over a 3-to-5-year period.

On the basis of the above assumptions and value in use calculations, management have concluded that no
impairment is required.
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13 Property, plant and equipment

Plant and

Leasehold land equipment Fixtures and Motor Right-of-use Total

Group and buildings {restated®) fittings vehicles assets (restated™)
£ E £ £ £ £

Cost
At 1 December 2019 304,252 1,091,783 1,743,187 171,432 2,807,525 6,118,179
Additions 6,938 188,131 725,145 1,628 4,286,743 5,218,585
Business combinations 56,694 43,800 126,600 96,668 473,790 797,552
Disposals - (10,900) {5,000} (42,103) - (58,003)
At 30 November 2020 367,884 1,322,814 2,589,932 227,625 7,568,058 12,076,313
Additions 39,373 198,217 228,965 - 294,504 761,059
Business combinations - 270,231 43,753 30,633 480,136 824,753
Disposals - - (15) {36,500) {22,457} (58,972)
At 30 November 2021 407,257 1,791,262 2,862,635 221,758 8,320,241 13,603,153
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 December 2019 58,173 146,712 464,622 38,607 100,378 808,492
Charge for the year 72,654 264 487 773,017 100,490 1,683,871 2,894,519
Disposals - (2,180 {1,667) {(11.711) - {15,558)
At 30 November 2020 130,827 409,019 1,235,972 127,386 1,784,249 3,687,453
Charge for the year 47,557 634,959 244,925 29,575 1,642,390 2,599,406
Disposals - - - (26,419) (6,288) (32,707)
At 30 November 2021 178,384 1,043,978 1,480,897 130,542 3,420,351 6,254,152
Carrying amount
At 30 November 2021 228,873 747,284 1,381,738 91,216 4,899,890 7,349,001
At 30 November 2020 237,057 913,795 1,353,960 100,239 5,783,809 8,388,860
At 1 December 2019 246,079 945,071 1,278,565 132,825 2,707,147 5,309,687

The company had no tangible assets at 30 November 2021, 30 November 2020 or 1 December 2019.

* Plant and equipment cost and accumulated depreciation brought forward, additions and depreciation charge has
bieen restated. See note 40 for further details.
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14

15

Investments
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£ £ £ £
investments in subsidiary undertakings - - 846,705 846,705
Movements in investments
Parent company Investments
other than
loans
E
Cost or valuation
At 1 December 2019, 2020 and 30 November 2021 846,705
Carrying amount
At 30 November 2021 846,705
At 30 November 2020 846,705
At 1 December 2019 846,705

Detaitls of the subsidiaries can be found in note 15. The directors believe that the carrying value of
investments is supported by their underlying assets.

Subsidiaries

Details of the company's subsidiaries at 30 November 2021 are as follows:

Name of undertaking

PMH Hoidco Limited
PMH Bidco Limited

Prism Medical Healthcare
Limited

Prism Medical Deutschland
GmbH

The Mobility Equipment
GCompany Limitec

The Stairlift Company Limited
Westholme Limited
Grimstead Medical Limitec

Freeway Healthcare Limited

Prism UK Medical Limited

Movement 2 Limited

Registered office

Warwick House, Z5-27 Buckingham Palace
Read, London, United Kingdom, SW1W
Warwick House, 25-27 Buckingham Palace
Road, London, United Kingdom, SW1W
Unit 4 Jubilee Business Park, Jubilee Way,
Grange Moor, West Yorkshire, WF4 4TD

Askanierweg ,12, Minden 32429, Germany

Unit 4 Jubilee Business Park, Jubilee Way,
Grange Moor, West Yorkshire, WF4 4TD
Unit 4 Jubilee Business Park, Jubilee Way,
Grange Moar, West Yorkshire, WF4 4TD
tnit 4 Jubulee Business Park, Jubilee Way,
Grange Moor, West Yorkshire, WF4 4TD
Unit 4 Jubilee Business Park, Jubilee Way,
Grange Moor, West Yorkshire, WF4 4TD
Unit 4 Jubilee Business Park, Jubilee Way,
Grange Moor, West Yorkshire, WF4 4TD
Unit 4 Jubilee Business Park, Jubilee Way,
Grange Moor, West Yorkshire, WF4 4TD

Unit 4 Jubilee Business Park, Jubilee Way,
Grange Moor, West Yorkshire, WF4 47D

Nature of business

Holding
Holding

Holding

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Dormant

Darmant

Dormant

Manufacture and
distribution of handling
and movement

equipment
Dormant

Class of % Held

shares held
Direct Indirect

Ordinary  83.42

Ordinary 100
Ordinary 100
Ordinary 100
Ordinary 100
Ordinary 100G
Ordinary 100
Crdinary 100
Ordinary 100
Ordinary 100
Ordinary 100
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15 Subsidiaries (continued)

Name of undertaking

Care Free Lifting Limited
Test Valley Mobility Limited
Assured Healthcare (Scotland}

Limited

Liftech Systems Limited

Registered office

Unit 4 Jubilee Business Park, Jubilee Way,
Grange Moar, West Yorkshire, WF4 4TD
Unit 4 Jubilee Business Park, Jubilee Way,
Grange Moor, West Yarkshire, WF4 4TD
Unit 1 8 Borrowmeadow Road, Springkerse

Industrial Estate, Stirling, Scotland, FK7
7UW

Unit 4 Jubilee Business Park, Jubilee Way,
Grange Moor, West Yorkshire, WF4 4TD

Handling Moving & Ergonomics Unit 4 Jubilee Business Park, Jubilee Way,

Limited

Saluss Limited

Care-Ability Holdings Limited

Grange Moor, West Yorkshire, WF4 4TD

Unit 4 Juhilee Business Park, Jubilee Way,
Grange Moor, West Yorkshire, WF4 4TD
Unit 4 Jubilee Business Park, Jubilee Way,
Grange Moor, West Yorkshire, WF4 4TD

Care-Abilty Healthcare Limited Unit 4 Jubilee Business Park, Jubilee Way,

Mackworth Healthcare Limited

Grange Moor, West Yorkshire, WF4 4TD

Unit 4 Jubilee Business Park, Jubilee Way,
Grange Moor, West Yorkshire, WF4 470

Assured Patient Lifting Services Unit 4 Jubilee Business Park, Jubilee Way,

Smirthwaite Limited

The Back Care Seating
Company
Kala Holdings Limited

Harvest Healthcare Limited

G and S Smirthwaite Limited

Smirthwaite USA |LLC

Repacq Investments Limited

Repose Fumityre Limited

Grange Meor, West Yorkshire, WF4 4TD

Unit 4 Jubilee Business Park, Jubilee Way,
Grange Moor, West Yorkshire, WF4 4T

Unit 4 Jubilee Business Park, Jubilee Way,
Grange

Unit 4 Jubilee Business Park, Jubilee Way,
Grange Moor, West Yorkshire, WF4 4TD
Sheaf House Bradmarsh Way, Bradmarsh
Business Park, Rotherham, England, S60
1BW

Unit 4 Jubilee Business Park, Jubilee Way,
Grange Moor, West Yorkshire, WF4 4TD
405 Lexington Avenue, 26th Floor, New York,
NY 10174, USA

Unit 4 Jubilee Business Park, Jubilee Way,
Grange Moor, West Yorkshire, WF4 4TD
Unit 4 Jubilee Business Park, Jubilee Way,
Grange Moor, West Yorkshire, WF4 4TD

Nature of business

Dormant
Dormant

Manufacture and
distribution of handiing
and movement
equipment

Dormant

Provision of handling
and movement training

Dormant

Dormant

Manufacture and
distribution of handling
and movement
eguipment

Dormant

Darmant

Manufacture and
distribution of handling
and movement
equipment

Dormant
Holding

Manufacture and
distribution of handling
and movement
equipment

Dormant

Distribution of handling
and movement
equipment

Holding

Manufacture and
distribution of handling
and movement
aquipment

Class of
shares held

Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary
Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary
Ordinary

Crdinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

Ordinary

% Held

Direct indirect
100

160

100

100

100

100

100

100

100G

100

100

100

106

100

100

100

100

100
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16

17

Financial instruments

Group Company
2020 2020
2021 (restated®) 2021 (restated*)
£ £ £ £
Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Trade receivables 11,564,752 8,576,626 - -
Other receivables 1 ,987,066 1,628.593 1 .014,000 1 ,343,550
Contract assets 836,507 385,418 - -
Amounts owed by group undertakings - - 7,792,195 44,830,445
14,388,325 10,590,637 58,806,195 46,173,995
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost
Trade payables 6,495,286 4,010,162 - -
Lease liabilities 5,049,600 5,960,845 - -
Accruals 6,519,132 2,141,306 15,000 15,000
Borrowings 82,077,123 73,892,889 47,607,494 41,619,732
Other payables 10,458,523 6,173,028 9,7?3,645 2,851,089
110,599,664 92,178,230 57,396,139 44,485,821
* Certain liabilities have been restated. See note 40 for further details.
Inventories
o Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£ £ £ £
Raw materials and consumables 4878973 3,723,165 - -
Finished goods and goods for resale 4614204 3,184,219 - -

9,493,177 6,907,384

Inventories are stated after provision for impairment of £324,281 (2020: £320,352).

The cost of inventory recognised as an expense in the current year was £26,469,760 (2020: £20,762,434).

These costs were included in cost of sales.
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18 Trade and other receivables

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£ £ £ £
Amounts falling due within one year:
Trade receivables 11,650,886 8,710,327 - -
Allowance for expected credit losses {86,134) (133,701) - -
Trade receivables —niel 11,564,752 8,576,626 - -
Other receivables 1,987,066 1,628,593 1,014,000 1,343,550
Prepayments 811,449 975,140 - -
Contract assets 836,507 385,418 - -
15,199,774 11,565,777 1,014,000 1,343,550
Amounts falling due after more than one
year:
Amounts owed by group undertakings - - 57,792 195 44,830,445
15,199,774 11,565,777 58,806,195 46,173,995

Amounts owed by group undertakings are unsecured and interest free.

Standard credit terms for trade receivables are 30-60 days from invoice date, afthough certain credit terms are
contract specific. The average credit period for sales is 53 days (2020: 52 days), and no interest is charged on
trade receivables. Trade receivables are stated after an expected credit loss allowance of £86,134 (2020:
£133,701). There are no trade receivables that fall due after more than one year,

19 Trade and other payables

Group Company
N 2021 2020 2021 2020
otes £ £ £ £
Bank loans and overdrafts 21 18,821,731 8,627,469 14,627 778 5,638,213
Lease liabilities 22 1,481,046 1,507,356 - -
Trade payables 6,495,286 4,010,162 - -
Other taxation and social security 1,986,266 2,751,238 - -
Other payables 121,245 16,703 - -
Accruals 2,377,786 2,141,306 15,000 15,000
Contract liabilities 457,543 404,672 - -
31,750,903 19,458,906 14,642,778 5,653,213

20 Non-current liabilities

Group Company
2020 2020
Notes 2021 (restated} 2021 {restated*)
£ £ £ £
Bank fcans and overdrafts 21 28,087,540 30,062,286 - -
Lease liabilities 22 3,668,554 4,453,489 - -
Other borrowings 21 35,167,852 35,203,134 32,979,716 35,981,519
Other payables 10,337,278 6,156,325 9,773,645 2,851,089
Accruals 4,141,346 - - -
Contract liabilities 848,430 733,656 - -
82,151,000 76,608,890 42 753,361 18,832,608

* Certain liabilities have been restated. See note 40 for further details.
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21

Loans and overdrafts

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£ £ £ £
Bank loans 46,909,271 38,689,755 14,827,778 5,638,213
Preference shares 20,192,302 20,192,302 18,218,788 18,218,788
Loans from group undertakings - - -
Loans from related parties 14,749,682 14,784,964 14,760,928 17,762,731
Other loans 225,868 225,868 - -
82,077,123 73,892,889 47,607,494 41,619,732
Payable within one year 18,821,731 8,827,468 14,627,778 5,638,213
Payable after one year 63,255,392 65,265,420 32,979,716 35,981,519

82,077,123 73,892,889 47,607,494 41,619,732

Bank loans are shown net of issue costs of £787,714 (2020: £1,131,443), which are amortised over the life of
the loan.

Bank ioans consist of term A, B, C, and a revolving credit facility. The £8.4m term A facility is payable over 20
quarterly instalments which matures in March 2024 and has an interest rate of 4.0% over LIBOR. The
£15.6m term B facility matures and is payable in March 2025 and has an interest rate of 4.5% over LIBOR.
The £10.0m term C facility is payable over 8 quarterly instalments which matures in March 2024 and has an
interest rate of 4.0% over LIBOR. The £2.5m revolving credit facility is available until March 2024, any amounts
drawn down under this facility are repayable within one year and incur an interest rate of 4.0% over LIBOR.
These facilities are secured by a fixed and floating charge over the assets and subsidiaries of PMH Bidco Limited,
an intermediary holding company of the group.,

Bank loans also include a £13.9m bridging facility which has an interest rate of 2.9% over LIBOR. All amounts
drawn down under the bridging facility are repayable within one year.

Unsecured A Loan Notes of £14.7m in the Company and Group are repayable in December 2028, the Loan
Nates incur compound interest at a rate of 10% per annum.

Unsecured B Loan Notes of £0.3m in the Group are repayable in December 2028, the Loan Notes incur
compound interest at a rate of 10% per annum.

Preference shares have a repayment date of 14 December 2028, and accrue dividends at 10%
compounded annually.
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22 Lease liabilities

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£ £ £ £

Maturity analysis — contractual undiscounted cash
flows
Within ane year 1,729,418 1,799,505 - -
Years lwo lu live inclusive 3,490,157 4,074,558 - -
After five years 522,333 985,038 - -
Total undiscounted lease liabitities 5,741,908 6,859,099 - -
Effect of discounting (692,308) (898,254) - -
Discounted lease liabilities 5,049,600 5,960,345 - -
Consisting of:
Non-current 3,568,554 4,453,489 - -
Current 1,481,046 1,507,358 - -
Total discounted lease liabilities 5,049,600 5,960,845 - -

Set out below are the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets recognised and the movements during the year:

Group

Cost
At 1 December 2019

Additions
Business combinations
At 30 November 2020

Additions
Business combinations
Disposals
At 30 November 2021

Accumulated depreciation

At 1 December 2019

Charge for the year
At 30 Novembher 2020

Charge for the year
Disposals
At 30 November 2021

Carrying amount

At 30 November 2021
At 30 November 2020
At 1 December 2019

Land and Plant and Fixtures and Motor
buildings equipment fittings vehicles Total
E £ £ £ £
1,557,062 131,908 183,773 934,782 2,807,525
2,972,436 - - 1,314,307 4,286,743
385,586 - - 88,204 473,780
4,915,084 131,908 183,773 2,337,293 7,568,058
- - 9,764 284,740 294,504
480,136 - - - 480,136
- - - (22,457} {22,457)
5,395,220 131,908 193,537 2,599,576 8,320,241
- 21,239 79,139 - 100,378
794,962 24,411 61,258 803,240 1,683,871
794,962 45,650 140,397 803,240 1,784,249
893,117 24411 33,206 691,656 1,642,390
- - - (6,288} (6,288)
1,688,079 70,061 173,603 1,488,608 3,420,351
3,707,141 61,847 19,934 1,110,968 4,899,890
4,120,122 86,258 43,376 1,534,053 5,783,809
1,557,062 110,669 104,634 934,782 2,707,147
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22 [ease labilities (continued)

Amounts recognised within the income statement in relation to short-term and low-value leases are disclosed

within note 4 to the financial statements.

The total cash outflow for leases during the year was £1,669,626 (2020: £1,977,339).

23 Provisions for liahilities

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£ £ £ £
Ditapidations 200,000 310,842 - -
200,000 310,842 - -
Movements on provisions:
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£ £ £ £
Dilapidations
At 1 December 310,842 318,561 - -
Additional provisions — business combinations 100,000 - - -
Charged to income statement 60,404 - - -
Utilisation/release of provision (271,248) (7,719) - -
At 30 November 200,000 310,842 - -

A provision has been made for the expected costs to be incurred on the exit of building and car leases to
return the buildings and cars to their original condition. Provision of £200,000 (2020: £271,246) in respect
of building dilapidation costs and £nil (2020: £39,596) in respect of car dilapidation costs are held at the
year end and are expected to be utilised on the exit of the leases.

24 Deferred tax liabilities

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£ £ £ £
Deferred tax liabilities 3,976,810 2,904,506 - -
3,976,810 2,904,506 - -

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where the group or company has a legaily enforceable right to do

s0. The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances (after offset) for financial reporting purposes:

Group Company
2021 242Q 2021 2G20
£ £ £ £
Fixed asset timing differences (42,279) 139,531 _ -
Other short term timing differences (14,200) - - -
Share based payments (289,234) - . _
Intangible assets on business combinations 4,322 523 2,764,975 - -
3,976,810 2,904,506 - -
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24 Deferred tax fiabilities (continued)

25

26

Movements in the year:

Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£ £ £ £
Deferred tax
At 1 December 2,904,506 2,207,833 - -
Additional provisions — business combinations 927,405 1,142,015 - -
Amaounts charged/(credited) to profit and loss 371,074 (445,342) - -
Amounts credited to equity in relation to share-based
payments (226,175) - - -
At 30 November 3,976,810 2,904,506 - -
Cash and cash equivalents
Group Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
£ £ £ £
Cash and cash eqguivalents 4,323,837 2,723,491 3,357 9,309

Financial risk management

The group's financial instruments comprise cash, and receivables and payables held at amortised cost that arise
from its operations.

The main financial risks arising from the group’s financial instruments are liquidity risk, interest rate risk, foreign
currency risk and credit risk. The directors review and agree policies for managing each of these risks.

Liquidity risk
Management control and monitor the group's cash flow an a regular basis, including forecasting future cash flows.
The group's policy is to maintain cash and undrawn committed facilities at a level sufficient to meet its medium-

term trading and funding obligations.

Interest rate risk

The group finances its operations through a combination of equity and interest-bearing financial liabilities. The
interest-bearing financial liabilities are a mixture of bank loans, convertible loans and preference shares bearing
both fixed and variable interest rates of 10% fixed per annum and 4.0%-4.5% over LIBOR per annum respectively.

Management regularly reviews the group’s interest rate risk position and considers the requirement for any
hedging instruments to mitigate risk as part of this regular monitoring. There were no such hedging instruments
in place at the year-end (2020: none),

Foreign currency risk

The value and frequency of foreign currency transactions across the group is low and accordingly, management
consider the related risk to be low. However, management regularly monitors the group’s currency positions and
exchange rate mavements and make currency decisions as appropriate.

Credit risk
Credit risk predominantly arises from trade recejvables and cash and cash equivalents.

The group’s maximum exposure to credit risk relating to its financial assets is equivalent to their carrying value,
as disclosed in note 16.
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27

28

29

Financial risk management (continued)

Credit risk (continued)
The group mainly trades with long standing customers, the nature of these relationships assist management in
controlling its credit risk in addition to an active credit control function monitoring customer balances on a daily

basis and working with customers to ensure timely cash collection.

Management review long-standing balances due from customers on an individual basis to conclude if
recoverable, and as such have no standardised definition of a default. However, generally any balances
outstanding over more than 180 days would be considered to be in defauit. A loss allowance equal to the lifetime
expected loss of £86,134 (2020: £133,701) was recognised on a collective basis on all trade receivables.

The directors have considered the expected credit loss allowance on the amounts owed by group undertakings
to PMH Topco Limited of £57,792,195 (2020: £44,830,445) and concluded that the required allowance would not
be matertal.

Capital risk management

The group's objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that
it can provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders. The group can implement a range of
measures to alter the capital structure inciuding altering the dividends paid to shareholders and arranging
appropriate banking facilities.

The group is subject to certain financing arrangements covenants and meeting these is given priority in all capital
risk management decisions. There have been no events of default on the financing arrangements during the
financial year. Despite the net liabilities position at the statement of financial position date, the group continues
to generale significant cash from its operating activities.

Retirement benefit schemes

Defined contribution schemes 2021 2020
£ £
Charge to income statement in respect of defined contribution schermes 828,363 454,923

A defined contribution pension scheme is operated for all qualifying employees. The assets of the scheme
are held separately from those of the group in an independently administered fund. Contributions totaling
£108,962 (2020: £99,675) were payable to the fund at the balance sheet date.

Issued share capital
Group and Company

2021 2020
£ f
Ordinary share capital
Issued and fully paid
834,205 (2020: 834,205) Ordinary shares of £1 each 834,205 834,205

834,205 834,205

Group
2021 2020
£ £
Preference share capital (included in non-current liabilities)
Issued and fully paid
20,192,302 (2020: 20,192,302) Redeemable preference shares of £1 each 20,192,302 20,192,302

20,192,302 20,192,302
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29 Issued share capital (continued)

Company
2021 2020
. £ £
Preference share capital (included in non-current liabilities)
Issued and fully paid
18,218,788 (2020: 18,218,788) Redeemable preference shares of £1 each 18,218,788 18,218,788

18,218,788 18,218,788

The company has one class of ordinary shares which carry full rights to voting, dividend and capital
distribution (including on winding up).

Additionally, the company and wider group have in issue redeemable preference shares of £1.00 each,
classified as liabilities. These shares do not carry voting rights but have a right to a preferential dividend

and preferential distribution rights upon a winding up. The shares have a repayment date of 14 December 2028
and accrue dividends at 10% compounded annually.

30 Reserves
Group and company reserves comprise:

(Accumulated losses)/retained earnings
Cumutative profit and loss net of distribution to owners.
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Acquisition

On 18 January 2021 the group acguired 100 percent of the issued share capital of Repacqg Investments
Limited and its wholly owned subsidiary, Repose Furniture Limited.

As a result of the acquisition, the group will be able to expand its current product offering within existing distribution
channels and further widen those distribution channels whilst benefitting frorm the synergistic benefits arising from
integrating Repose Furniture Limited into the group.

intangible assets
Property, ptant and equipment

Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade and other payables
Lease liabilities

Provisions for liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities

Total identifiable net assets
Non-controlling interests

Goodwill

Total consideration

The consideration was satisfied hy:

Cash

Deferred consideration

Book Value

£

344,617
404,707
4,427,443
719,823
(942,864)

(55,505)

Adjustments
£

4,881,081
480,136

(205,561)
(480,136)
(100,000)
(871,900)

Fair Value
£
4,881,081
824,753
404,707
4,427,443
719,823
(1,148,425}
(480,136}
(100,060)
(927,405)

4,898,221

3,703,620

8,601,841

Contribution by the acquired business for the reporting period included in
the consolidated income statement since acquisition:

Revenue
Profit after tax

Revenue and profit or loss of the group for the reporting period as though the
acquisition date was the beginning of the period:

Revenue
Profit after tax

(1.426,142)
8,241,579

15,417,278

£
11,417,278
4,000,000

15,417,278

£
8,325,680
1,895,607

£
70,474,183
(1,688,593)

The goodwill arising on the acquisition of the business is attributable to the anticipated profitability of the
company and the future operating synergies from the combination.

Acquisition-related costs of £229 806 were recognised in administrative expenses in the income statement.
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33

Cash generated from operations — group

Loss for the year after tax

Adjustments for:

Taxation charge/(credit)

Finance costs

Investment income

Amortisation of intangible assets

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment
(Profit)loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Equity settled share-based payment expense

Decrease in provisions

Movements in working capital:
Increase in inventory

Decrease in debtors
Increase/(decrease) in creditors

Cash generated from operations

2020

2021 (restated”)

£ £
(2,988,893) (5,322,655)
1,229,468 (471,427)
6,957,313 6,147,828
- (201)
2,999,774 2,298,477
2,599,406 2,894,519
(6,933) 18,277
252,235 199,928
(210,842) (7.719)
(2,181,086} (318,055)
793,446 1,421,076
1,231,739 (530,589)
10,675,627 6,329,459

* Finance costs, amortisation of intangible assets and depreciation of property, plant and equipment has been

restated. See note 40 for further details.

Analysis of changes in net debt — group

.30

1 December Other non- November

2020 Cash flows Acquisitionscash changes 2021

£ £ £ £ £

Cash and cash equivalents 2,723,491 880,523 719,823 - 4,323,837

Bank loans (38,689,755) (7,258,638) - (960,878) (46,909,271)

Other borrowings (35,203,134} - - 35,282 (35,167,852)
Other payables — accrited interest on loan

nctes and preference shares (6,156,325) - - (4,180,953) (10,337,278)

Lease liabilities (5,960,845) 1,668,626 {480,136} (278,245) (5,049,600)

(83,286,568) (4,708,489) 239,687  (5,384,794) (93,140,164)

30

1 December Other non- November

2019 cash changes 2020

(restated*) Cash flows Acquisitions {restated”) (restated®)

£ £ £ £ £

Cash and cash equivaients 914,780 1,775,708 33,003 - 2,723,491

Bank loans (27,226,845) (6,586,127) (2,830,244) (2,046,539) (38,689,755)

Other borrowings (33,572,074) 1,326,043 (1,295878) (1,661,225) (35203,134)
Other payables — accrued interest on loan

notes and preference shares (2,415,630) - - {3.,740,6895) (6,156,325)

Lease liabilities (2,815,035) 1,977,339 (486,379) (4,636,770) (5,960,845)

(65,114,804) (1,507,037) (4,579,498) (12,085,229} (83,286,568)

* Finance costs and certain liabilities have been restated. See note 40 for further details.
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34 Cash used in operations — company

(Loss)/profit for the year after tax

Adjustments for:
Taxation charge
Finance costs
Investment income

Movements in working capital:

Increase in debtors
Decrease in creditors

Cash used in operations

* Finance costs have been restated. See note 40 for further details.

35 Analysis of changes in net debt — company

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank loans

Other borrowings

Other payables — accrued interest

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank loans

Other borrowings

QOther payables — accrued interest

2020

2021 (restated*)

£ £

(89,420) 488.621

134,900 -

4,561,680 3,170,153

(4,561,680) (3.176,153)

(8,070,520) {6,097,592)

. (20,000)

(8,025,040) (5,628,971)

30

1 December Other non- November
2020 Cash flows cash changes 2021

£ £ £ £

4,309 (5,952) - 3,357
(5.638,213) (8.348,638) (640,927) (14,627.778)
(35,981,519) 3,001,803 (32,979,716)
(2,851,089) - (6,922,556) (9,773,645)
(44.461,512) (8,354,590) (4,561,680} (57.377.782)
30

1 December Other non- November
2019 cash changes 2020
(restated*} Cash flows (restated*) (restated®)
£ £ £

67 9,242 - 9,309

- (5638213} - (5,638,213)
(33,305,861) (2,675,658) (35,981,519)

(2,356,594)

(494,495} (2,851,089

(35,662,388) (5,628,971)

(3,170,153) (44.461,512)

* Finance costs and certain liabilities have been restated. See note 40 for further details.
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37

38

Controlling party

PMH Topce Limited is the smallest and largest group thal prepares consolidated financial statements that
include the results of this company. At the date of the statement of financial position the directors considered the
ultimate controlling party 1o be Limerston Capital Partners LLP, however, in February 2022, following the sale of
the group, the ultimate controlling party became Charme Capital Partners.

Contingent liability

PMH Topco Limited, the parent company of the group, has provided a statutory guarantee for all
outstanding liabilities to which the following companies are subject to as at 30 November 2021 to:

PMH Holdco Limited;

PMH Bidco Limited;

Prism Medical Healthcare Limited;
Assured Healthcare (Scotland) Limited;
Handling Movement & Ergonomics Limited;
Smirthwaite Limited;

Care-Ability Healthcare Limited;
Harvest Healthcare Limited;

Kala Holdings Limited;

Repacq Investments Limited; and
Repose Furniture Limited

* & 8 8 % & 9 9 s 0

The guarantee enables these companies to take the BIS exemption from obtaining a signed statutory
opinion under section 479A of the Companies Act 2006.

Related party transactions
Transactions with related parties

Key management personnel

The remuneration of key management personnel of the group was:

2021 2020

£ £

Short-term employee henefits 998,267 931,838
Post-employment benefits 43,481 39,286
1,041,748 971,124

At 30 November 2021, £1,014,000 (2020: £1,014,000) was due from key management personnel. The loan is
on an interest free basis and is repayabie on demand.

At 30 November 2021, £2,411,312 {2020 £2,192,651) of preference share capitai was in issue, held by
management, with £445 655 (2020: £226,994) of accrued interest outstanding. The preference shares pay 10%
compound interest annually and are redeemable on the earlier of 14 December 2028 or an exit. Preference
shares do not carry voting rights. Included in the income statement is £218,661 (2020: £194 965) of interest

expense.

At 30 November 2021, £340,457 (2020: £291,938) of loan notes were in issue with management, with £87,738
(2020: £58,624) of accrued interest gutstanding. The loan notes pay 10% compound interest annually and are
redeemable on the earlier of 14 December 2028 or an exit. Included in the income statement is £29,113 (2020:

£31,6186) of interest expense.
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Refated party transactions (continued)

Transactions with entities with control, jeint control, or significant influence over the entity

At 30 November 2021, PMH Holdco Limited had in issue £17,480,429 (2020: £17,480,429) of redeemable
preference shares with PMH Topco Limited. At the year-end, £5,710,579 (2020: £3,607,738) of accrued interest
was outstanding. The preference shares pay 10% compound interest annually and are redeemable on the earlier
of 14 December 2028 or an exit. Prefarence shares do not carry voting rights. Included in the income statement
is £2,103,751 (2020: £1,916,186) of interest expense.

At 30 November 2021, PMH Holdco Limited had in issue loan notes with PMH Topco Limited. The loans pay
10% compound interest rate and are repayable on the earlier of 14th December 2028 or an exit. At the year-
end, £24,675,814 (2020: £22,367,381) of loan notes and £2,317,264 (2020: £2,112,911) of accrued interest was
outstanding. Included in the income statement is £2,512,787 (2020: £2,274,491) of interest expense.

Transactions with entities with control, joint control, or significant influence gver the entity (continued}

At 30 November 2021, PMH Topco Limited had in issue loan notes to Limerston Capital Partners LLP, an entity
with a controlling interest in the company, The loans pay 10% compound interest rate and are repayable on the
earlier of 14th December 2028 or an exit. At the year end, £17,488,853 (2020: £15,898,958) of loan notes and
£1,600,350 (2020: £1,455,232) of accrued interest was outstanding. Included in the income statement is
£1,735,013 (2020: £1,580,262) of interest expense.

At 30 November 2021, PMH Topco Limited had in issue £18,218,788 (2020: £18,218,788) of redeemable
preference shares to Limerston Capital Partners LLP, an entity with a controlling interest in the company. At the
year-end £5,961,851 (2020: £3,764,079) of accrued interest was outstanding. The preference shares pay 10%
compound interest annually and are redeemable on the earlier of 14 December 2028 or an exit. Preference
shares do not carry voting rights. Included in the income statement is £2,197,773 (2020: £1,998,867) of interest
expense.

Transactions with related entities of which the entity has control, joint centrol, or significant influence

During the year, sales of goods and services of £2,635,898 (2020: £797,993) were made between Prism UK
Medical Limited, Smirthwaite Limited, Harvest Healthcare Limited, Repose Furniture Limited, and other
subsidiaries. These transactions are eliminated from the group's results.

During the year, group companies received loans from other group companies. Gress loans amounting to
£132,450,244 {2020: £98,332,809) were outstanding at 30 November 2021. Intercompany balances are non-
interest bearing and are repayable on demand.

During the year, Repose Furniture Limited paid £83,600 (2020: £nil) in rent for the premises and car park at
Repose Furniture Limited, to Davlis Investments Limited, in which a director of Repose Furniture Limited is also
a director. Atthe year-end, £8,488 (2020: £nil} was included in trade creditors in respect of this rental agreemeit.

-50 -



PMH TOPCO LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS {CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 NOVEMBER 2021

39

Explanation of transition to IFRS

This is the first year that the group and company has presented its results under International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS). The last financial statements under UK GAAP were for the year ended 30 November 2020.
The date of transition to IFRS was 1 December 2019. Set out below are the changes in accounting policies which
reconcilte the loss for the year ended 30 November 2020 and the total equity at 1 December 2019 between UK
GAAP as previously reported and IFRS.

(3} IFRS 1: First-time Application of International Financial Reporting Standards
In accordance with IFRS 1 the group is entitled to a number of voluntary and mandatory exemptions from full
restatements which have been adopted as follows:

Property, plant and equipment and infangible assets

The group has elected to retain the carrying values under UK GAAP as the deemed cost at transition. The
acquisition of Prism Medical Healthcare Limited and its subsidiaries (the trading group) was on the 14 December
2018. At which point, the property, plant and equipment and intangible assets in the group was fair valued at
acquisition. The directors consider this would be a reasonable approximation to the fair value as at the date of
transition.

investments in subsidiaries
The carrying value of investments in subsidiaries under FRS 102 has been taken as the deemed cost at the date

of transition to IFRS, which is permitted under IFRS 1.

Share-based payment expense

IFRS 2: Share-based Payment has not been applied to equity-settled share-based payments granted on or
before 7 November 2002, nor has it been applied to share-based payments granted after 7 November 2002 that
vested before the date of transition to IFRS standards.

Business combinations

The directors have elected not to apply IFRS 3: Business Combinations to business combinations that took place
before the transition to IFRS but instead has applied it prospectively from the transition date. This means that no
refrospective reversal of accumulated goodwill can take place in accordance with IFRS 1. The carrying amount
of goodwill at the transition date is the carrying amount under UK GAAP.

Leases
IFRS 16: Leases has optional transitional reliefs and practical expedients permitted for first-time adopters of
IFRS, which have been applied as follows:

« Determination of whether contracts existing at the date of transition contain leases based on an
assessment of the facts and circumstances existing at that date, instead of determining retrospectively
whether a contract contained a lease at the inception date of the contract;

« Recognition and measurement of lease liabilities and right-of-use assets at the date of transition to IFRS.
The lease liability is discounted using the incremental borrowing rate at the date of transition to IFRS,
and the right-of-use asset is measured at an amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted by the amount
of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the statement of financial
position immediately before the date of transition to IFRS; and

¢ The use of a single discount rate has been applied to each portfolio of leases with reasonably similar
characteristics.

{b) Explanation of reconciling items between FRS 102 and IFRS

Leases

Under FRS 102, leases where the group is lessee are treated as operating leases where appropriate and rentals
are charged on a straight-line basis. On adoption of IFRS 16, the Group recognised lease liabilities in relation to
leases which were previously classified as operating leases under FRS 102, using the cumulative catch-up
approach. These liabilities are measured at the present value of remaining lease payments, discounted using the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate at the date of transition. 5.28% was deemed to be a reasonabie approximation
of the incremental borrowing rate for all leases at the date of transition by the directors.
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The associated right-of-use assets for leases were measured at the amount equal to the lease liability, adjusted
by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to that lease recognised in the statement of
financial position as at the transition date.

IFRS 16 does not distinguish between operating leases and finance leases, unlike UK GAAP. As such, the
liabilities, and assets in relation tc finance leases which existed on the statement of financial position as at the
transition date have been transferred into the lease liabilities and right-of-use assets recognised at that date under
IFRS.

Business combinations

Under IFRS 3, transaction costs directly attributable to business combinations are recognised through the profit or
loss. Under UK GAAP, any costs directly attributable to the business combination are included in the cost of the
business combination. The adjustment reduced the value of goodwill on acquisition of Harvest Healthcare Limited
and reduced profits recognised by £450,240 far the year ended 30 November 2020.

IFRS 3 prohibits the amortisation of goodwilt. The standard requires goodwill to be carried at cost with impairment
tested annually and also when there are indicators that the carrying value may not be recoverable, as prescribed
by |AS 36. £4,689,237 of goodwill amortisation was reversed in the year ended 30 November 2020.

IFRS 3 states that at the acquisition date the entity should recognise goodwill separately from other intangible
assets. Classes of intangible assets recognised under IFRS 3 differ to that of UK GAAP. IFRS 3 requires either
contractual or separable assets to be identified, whereas UK GAAP only requires contractual and separable assets
to be identified. The directors revisited the business combination accounting for the acquisition of Harvest
Healthcare Limited which took place in the year ended 30 November 2020 and recognised an asset for customer
relationships of £2,131,985 at acquisition. Amortisation of £195,432 was then charged on this asset and recognised
in the income statement for the year ended 30 November 2020,

IFRS 3 requires deferred taxes in a business combination to be recognised in accordance with IAS 12: Income
Tax. As a result of the recognition of the customer relationship asset noted in the paragraph above, an additional
deferred tax liability of £405,077 at the date of acquisition was required. Amortisation of £37,132 was released to
the profit or loss in relation to this liability in the year ended 30 November 2020,

The changes in identifiable net assets acquired as a result of the adjustments above meant that the non-controiling
interest at acquisition increased by £286,313 at acguisition date. This is to reflect the non-controliing interest's
proportionate share of the customer relationship asset recognised as is allowable under IFRS 3.

Financial instruments

Under UK GAAP, bad debt provision is calculated on a specific basis per customer. Under IFRS, an "expected
loss” impairment model applies, which requires a low allowance to be recognised based on expected credit losses.
The directors reviewed the existing bad debt provision in place and compared to the values calculated under an
“expected loss” impairment model, The conclusion was that there are no material adjustments which would be
required as a result of the transition in this area.

Revenue recognition

IFRS 15 introduced a five-step recognition model for revenue which applies to all contracts with customers,
regardless of whether it is a supply of goods or services. UK GAAP has separate recognition criteria for the sale
of goods and services. The directors reviewed the applicable revenue streams comparing the accounting under
UK GAAP, to the expected accounting under the five-step recognition model. The conclusion was that there are
no material adjustments which would be required as a result of the transition in this area.
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Reconciliation of equity under IFRS at transition date — group

Assets

Non-current

Goodwill

Other intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Current

Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables
Current tax payable

Net current assets
Non-current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Borrowings

Provisions
Deferred tax liabilities

Total liabilities
Net liabilities
Equity

Issued share capital
Accumulated losses

Equity attributable to owners of the

parent
Non-controlling interest

Total equity

At 1 December 2019

As Prior year

previously restatement UK GAAP
reported (see note 40) restated Leases {FRS
£ £ £ £ £
35,377,959 - 35377959 - 35,377,859
11,012,981 728,613 11,741,594 - 11,741,594
3,591,826 (728,613) 2,863,213 (260,673} 2,602,540
- - - 2,707,147 2,707,147
49,982,766 - 49,982,766 2,446,474 52,429,240
5,024,348 - 5,024,348 - 5,024,348
10,605,712 - 10805712 - 10,605,712
914,780 - 914,780 - 914,780
16,544,840 16,544,840 - 16,544,840
66,527,606 - 66,527,606 2,446,474 68,974,080
(11,204,687 - (11,204,687) (814,652) (12,019,339
{393,261) - (393.261) - (393,261)
4,946,892 - 4,946,892 (814,652) 4,132,240
{4,180,739) 834,955 (3,345.784) (1,631.822) (4,977,606)
(58,239,940) (58,239,940) - (568,239,940)
{318,561) - (318,561) - {318,561)
(2,207,833) - {2,207,833) - {2,207,833)
(76,545,021) 834,955 (75,710,066) (2,446,474) (78,156,540)
{10,017,415) 834,955 (9,182,460) - {9,182,460)
834,205 - 834,205 - 834,205
(5,650,131) 834,955 (4,815,176) - {4,815176)
(4,815,926) 834,955 (3,980,971) - {3,980,971)
(5,201,489) - (5,201,489 - {5,201,489)
{10,017,415) 834,955 (9,182,460} - {9,182,460)

Reconciliation of equity under IFRS at transition date — company

There was na impact on the company’s equity previously reported under UK GAAP as a result of the transition to

IFRS,
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Reconciliation of equity under IFRS at 30 November 2020 - group

Assets

Non-current

Goodwill

Other intangible assets
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets

Current

Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables
Current tax payables

Net current assets

Non-current lizbilities
Trade and other payabies
Borrowings

Provisions

Deferred tax liabilities

Taotal liabilities
Net liabilities

Equity

Issued share capital
Accumuiated fosses:

Balance brought forward

Loss and total comprehensive
expense for the year

Credit to equity for equity settled
share-based payments

Equity attributable to owners of

the parent

At 30 November 2020

Prior year
As restatement

previously (see note UK GAAP Business
reported 40) restated Leases combinations IFRS
£ £ £ £ £ £
38,512,710 - 38,512,710 - 2,798,402 41,311,112
13,309,128 729,567 14,038,695 - 1,936,553 15,975,248
3,698,037 (728567) 2,868,470 (363,419) - 2,605,051
- - - 5,783,809 - 5,783,809
55,519,875 - 55,519,875 5,420,390 4,734,955 65,675,220
6,907,384 - 5,807,384 - - 5,907,384
11,585,777 - 11,565,777 - - 11,565,777
2,723,491 - 2,723,491 - - 2,723494
21,196,652 - 21,196,652 - - 21,196,652
76,716,527 - 76,716,527 5,420,390 4,734,955 86,871,872
(18,135,088) - {18,135,086) (1.323,820) - (19,458,206)
(514,550) 26,168  (488,382) - - (488,382)
2,547,016 26,168 2,573,184 (1,323,820) - 1,249,364
(8,066,843} 912,990 (7,153,853) (4,189,617} - (11,343,470}
(65,265,420) - (65,265,420) - - (85,265,420)
(310,842) - {310,842 - - {310.,842)
(2,554,240) - (2.554,240) 17,679 (367,945) (2,904,508)
(94,846,981) 939,158 (93,907,823) (5,495,758} (367,945) (99,771,526)
(18,130,454} 939,158 (17,191,296) {75,368) 4,367,010 (12,899,654)
834,205 - 834,205 - - 834,205
(5,650,131} 834,955 (4,815,176) - - {4.815,176)
(7,901,524} 99,864 (7.801,660) {62,871) 3,404,117 (4,460,414)
199.928 - 199,928 - - 199,928
(12,517,522) 934,819 (11,582,703) {62,871) 3,404,117 (8,241,457)
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Reconciliation of equity under IFRS at 30 November 2020 - group (continued)

Non-controlling interest:

Balance brought forward
Loss and total comprehensive
expense for the year

Acquisition of subsidiaries
Total equity

At 30 November 2020

Prior year
As restatement
previously (see note UK GAAP Business

reported 40) restated Leases combinations IFRS
£ £ £ £ £ £
(5.201,489) - (5,201.,489) - - (5.201,489)
(1,530,663) 4,339 (1,528,324) (12,497) 676,580 (862,241)
1,119,220 - 1,119,220 - 286,313 1,405,533
(18,130,454) 939,158 (17,191,296) (75,368) 4,367,010 (12,899,654)

Reconciliation of equity under IFRS at 30 November 2020 — company

There was no impact on the company’s equity previously reported under UK GAAP as a result of the transition to

IFRS.

Reconciliation of income statement under IFRS for year ended 30 November 2020 - group

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit
Administrative expenses
Distribution costs

Other operating income
Net operating (loss)/profit

Finance income
Finance costs

Loss before taxation
Taxation

Loss for the year

Loss for the financial year is
attributable to:

- Owners of the parent company
- Non-controlling interests

Year ended 30 November 2020

Prior year
As restatement
previously (see note UK GAAP Business

reported 40} restated Leases combinations IFRS
£ £ £ £ £ £
53,493,431 - 53493431 - - 53,493,431
(35,708,954) - (35,708,954} - - (35,708,954)
17,784,477 - 17,784,477 - - 17,784,477
(15,401,531) - (15,401,531} 115,878 4,043 565 (11,242,088)
(7,041,871) - (7.041,871) 57,366 - (6,984,505)
795,661 - 795,661 - - 795,661
(3,863,264) - (3,863,264) 173,244 4,043,565 353,545
201 - 201 - - 201
(5,959,572) 78,035 (5,881,537) {266,291) - (6,147,828)
(9,822,635) 78,035 (9,744,600) {93,047) 4,043,565 (5,794,082)
390,448 26,168 416,616 {17,679) 72,490 471,427
{9.432,187) 104,203 (9,327,984) (110,726) 4,116,055 (5,322,655)
(7,901,524) 99, 864 (7.801,660) (92,367) 3,433,613 (4,460,414)
(1,530,663) 4,339 (1,526,324)  (18,359) 682442  (862,241)

(9,432,187)

104,203 (9,327,984)

(110,726) 4,116,055 (5,322,655)
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Reconciliation of reported profit under IFRS for year ended 30 November 2020 — company

There was no impact on the company’s reparied profit previously reported under UK GAAP as a result of the transition

to IFRS.

Reconciliation of cash flows under IFRS for year ended 30 November 2020 — group

Year ended 30 November 2020

Prior year
As restatement
previously (see note UK GAAP Business
reported 40) restated L eases combinations IFRS
£ £ £ £ £ £

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 5,086,079 - 5086079 1693620 (450,240) 6,329,459
Income taxes paid (125,310) - {125,310) - - {125310)
Net cash generated from operating
activities 4,960,769 - 4,960,769 1,692,620 (450,240) 6,204,149
Investing activities
Purchase of intangible assets (434,589)  (210.130) (644,719) - - (644,719)
Purchase of tangible assets (1,083,668) 210,130 (873,538) - - (873,538
Purchase of subsidiaries net of cash
acquired (6,560,244} - (6,560,244) - 450,240 (6,110,004)
Proceeds on disposal of fixed assets 24,168 - 24,168 - - 24,168
Interest received 200 - 200 - - 200
Net cash used in investing activities _ (8,054,133) - (8,054,133) - 450,240 (7,603,893}
Financing activities
Proceeds from bank loans 12,400,000 - 12,400,000 - - 12,400,000
Repayment of bank loans 4,090,244) - (4,090,244) - - (4,090,244
Repayment of preference shares (62,707} - (62,707} - - (62,707}
Interest paid on preference shares (7.858} - {7,858) - - (7,858)
Repayment of loan notes (1,355,378} - (1,355,378} - - {1,355,378)
Payment of principal element of finance
lease obligations (258,287) - {258,287} 258,287 - -
Payment of lease liabilities - - - (1,660,184) - (1,660,184)
Loan fees paid (131.853) - {131,853) - - {131,853}
Interest paid (1,591,598) - (1,591,598) (291,723) - {(1,883,321)
Net cash generated from financing
activities 4,902,075 - 4,902,075 (1,693,620) - 3,208,455
Net increase in cash and cash
equivalents 1,808,711 - 1,808,711 - - 1,808711
Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year 914,780 - 914,780 - - 914,780
Cash and cash equivalents atend of
year 2,723,491 - 2,723,491 - - 27234941
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Prior year restatement

Separate to the transition to IFRS, the group has identified a prior year adjustment which has been restated in
the tables presented.

1) £372,511 reduction in accumulated losses brought forward at 1 December 2019 and £34,875 reduction in
interest payable recognised in the year ended 30 November 2020 for PMH Topco Limited. This adjustment is in
relation to the loan notes to properly reflect the period over which interest was payable up to the comparative
statement of financial position date. The adjustment reduced other payables by £437 386 at 30 November 2020
and £372,511 at 1 December 2019. The error arose as a result of the use of an incorrect start date in caltculating
interest due on certain loans.

2) £462,444 reduction in accumulated losses brought forward at 1 December 2019 and £43,160 reduction in
interest payable recognised in the year ended 30 November 2020 for PMH Topco Limited. This adjustment is in
relation to the preference shares to properly reflect the period over which interest was payable up to the
comparative statement of financial position date. The adjustment reduced other payables by £505,604 at 30
November 2020 and £462,444 at 1 December 2019. The error arose as a result of the use of an incarrect start
date in calculating interest due on preference shares.

3) £26,168 increase in group tax provision for the year ended 30 November 2020.

4) £728,613 reclassification from property, plant and equipment to other intangible assets brought forward at 1
December 2019, £210,130 reclassification of additions from property, plant and equipment to other intangible
assets in the year ended 30 November 2020 and £209,176 reclassification from depreciation charge to
amortisation charge for the year ended 30 November 2020. The adjustment increased and reduced other
intangible assets and property, plant and equipment respectively by £729,567 at 30 November 2020. The error
arose as a result of historic development costs being incorrectly included within plant and equipment.

Group
Year ended 30 November 2020
2) Interest
As 1) Interest on
previously onloan preference 3) Tax 4) Fixed UK GAAP
reported notes shares provision assets restated
£ £ £ £ £ £
Finance costs (5,959,572} 34,875 43,160 - - {5,881,537)
Loss before taxation (9,822,635) 34,875 43,160 - - {9,744.600)
Taxation 390,448 - - 26,168 - 416,616
Loss for the year (9,432,187} 34,875 43,160 26,168 - (9,327,984)
Loss for the financial year is
attributable to:
- Owners of the parent company  (7,901,524) 34,875 43,160 21,829 - {7,801,660)
- Non-controliing interests (1,530,663) - - 4,338 - {1.526,324;
(9,432,187) 34,875 43,160 26,168 - (9,327,984)
Cash flows from investing
activities
Purchase of intangible assets {434,589) - - - (210,130) (644,719
Purchase of tangible assets (1,083,668) - - - 210,130 (873,538}
Net cash used in investing
activities (8,054,133) - - - - (8,054,133}
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Group

At 30 November 2020

As 2) Interest on
previously 1) Interest on preference 3) Tax 4) Fixed UK GAAP
reported loan notes shares provision assets restated
£ £ £ £ £ £
Other intangible assets 13,309,128 - - - 729,567 14,038,695
Property, plant and
equipment 3,698,037 - - - (729,587) 2968470
Total assets 76,716,527 - - - - 76,716,527
Current tax payables (514,550) - - 26,168 - (488,382}
Other payables (7.069,315) 407,388 505,604 - - (6,156,325}
Total non-current trade and
other payables (8,066,843} 407,386 505,604 - - {7,153,853)
Net liabilities (18,130,454} 407,386 505,604 26,168 - (17,191,296}
Accumulated losses
Balance brought forward at 1
December 2019 {5.650,131) 372,511 462,444 - - (4,815,176}
Loss and total comprehensive
expense for the year (7,901 524} 34,875 43,160 21,829 - (7,801,660)
Credit to equity for equity
settled share-based payments 199,928 - “ - - 199,928
(13,351,727) 407,386 505,604 21,829 - (12,416,908)
Non-controlling interest
Balance brought forward at 1
December 2019 (5,201,489) - - - - (5,201,489)
Loss and total comprehensive
expense for the year (1,530,663} - - 4,339 - (1,526,324)
Acquisition of subsidiaries 1,119,220 - - - - 1,119,220
Total equity (18,130,454) 407,386 505,604 26,168 - (17,191,296)
Company
At 30 November 2020
As 2) Interest on
previously 1) Interest on preference UK GAAP
reported loan notes shares restated
£ £ £ £
Other payables (3,764.079) 407,386 505,604 (2.851,089)
Total non-current trade and other payables (3,764,079) 407,386 505,604 (2,851,089}
Net assets 1,301,648 407,386 505,604 2,214,638
Accumulated [osses
Balance brought forward at 1 December 2019 586,857 372,511 462,444 891,812
Profit for the year 410,586 34,875 43,160 488,621
467,443 407,386 505,604 1,380,433
Total equity 1,301,648 407,386 505,604 2,214,638
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